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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20:
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 001-35155

BOINGO WIRELESS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

DELAWARE 95-4856877
(State of other jurisdiction ¢ (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatio Identification Number

10960 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 800
Los Angeles, California 90024
(Address of principal executive offices, Zip Co

(310) 586-5180
(Registrant's telephone number, including area)c

Securities registered pursuant to Secti(b) of the Act:

Common Stock, $0.0001 par valu The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(Title of each class (Name of each exchange on which registe

Securities registered pursuant to Sect{g) of the ActNone
Indicate by check mark if the registranaiwell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in &beof the Securities Act. YeEl No X
Indicate by check mark if the registranhot required to file reports pursuant to Secti8ror 15(d) of the Act. Ye&d No

Indicate by check mark whether the regigt(1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periotitti@registrant was required to file such reppgayl (2) has been subject to such filing requirgséor the past
90 days. Yedx No O

Indicate by check mark whether the regigthas submitted electronically and posted ocatporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Diita required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl8&-T (232.405 of this chapter) during the poiieg 12 months (or for such shorter period thatréggstrant was
required to submit and post such files). Y&s  No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure olimtguent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulati®K is not contained herein, and will not be camta, to the best of
registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infeation statements incorporated by reference inIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisriol0-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registis a large accelerated filer, an accelerateddr a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller rapgrtompany. See the
definition of "large accelerated filer," "acceladtfiler" and "smaller reporting Company" in Rulzbi2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileEd Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filed Smaller reporting compania

(Do not check if a
smaller reporting compan’



Indicate by check mark whether the registis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-thefExchange Act). Ye&l No X

The aggregate market value of the Regissraoting and non-voting common equity held by-adfiliates of the Registrant as of the last dathe Registrant's
most recently completed second fiscal quarter V828 ®07,000 based on the last reported sale piri8&1062 per share on the NASDAQ Global Market ameJ80,
2012.

As of March 11, 2013, 35,625,314 sharesamhmon Stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Company's Annual Reparttie year ended December 31, 2012 are incorpobgteeference into Part Il of this Form 10-K.

Portions of the Company's definitive Pr&tatement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholdersddiled within 120 days of the Company's yeareehd
December 31, 2012 are incorporated by referenoeHatt Ill of this Form 10-K where indicated.
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Forward-Looking Statements

We have made forward-looking statements in thisuAhReport on Form 10-K that are subject to risksl ancertainties. Forward-looking statements witthia
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 08,188 amended, and Section 21E of the SecuritielsalBge Act of 1934, as amended, are subject téstfe harbor”
created by those sections. The forward-lookingestaints in this report are based on our managembpelisfs and assumptions and on information cuiyesnailable
to our management. In some cases, you can idéotifiard-looking statements by terms such as "gpdites," "aspires," "believes," "can," "continue¢ould,"
"estimates," "expects," "intends," "may," "plan§ytojects," "seeks," "should," "will" or "would" othe negative of these terms and similar expressitended to
identify forward-looking statements. These statémiewolve known and unknown risks, uncertainties ather factors, which may cause our actual result
performance, time frames or achievements to berrabyedifferent from any future results, perforna time frames or achievements expressed or idhplighe
forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these tigkgrtainties and other factors in this documargreater detail under the heading "Risk Factoig/e
believe it is important to communicate our expeoctet to our investors. However, there may be evaritse future that we are not able to predict aetely or over
which we have no control. The risks described iisKRactors" included in this report, as well asyasther cautionary language in this report, provielamples of
risks, uncertainties and events that may causeaotual results to differ materially from the expeiins we describe in our forward-looking statenseBefore you
invest in our common stock, you should be awaretligaoccurrence of the events described in "Resttdis" and elsewhere in this report could harm business.

Given these risks, uncertainties and other factges, should not place undue reliance on these fafv@oking statements. Also, these forward-looking
statements represent our estimates and assummtioyngs of the date of this filing. You should rélsid document completely and with the understapthat our
actual future results may be materially differenoini what we expect. We hereby qualify our forwaaking statements by these cautionary statemertepE as
required by law, we assume no obligation to updag¢se forwardiooking statements publicly, or to update the oeesactual results could differ materially from sie
anticipated in these forward-looking statementgneif new information becomes available in therfitu

Unless the context otherwise requires, we useetimest "Boingo," "company," "we," "us" and "our" ihi$ Annual Report on Form 10-K to refer to Boingo
Wireless, Inc. and, where appropriate, its subsid®

PART |
Item 1. Business
Company Overview
Boingo makes it simple to connect to théoileolnternet.

We make it easy, convenient and cost effedor individuals to find and gain access to thebile Internet through high-speed, high-bandw\MikFi networks
globally. We also manage and operate a distribateeinna system infrastructure, or DAS, which isllutar extension network. Our solution includesyeto-use
software for Wi-Fi enabled devices such as smartphplaptops and tablet computers, and our sopéietl back-end system infrastructure that detect®aables
one-click access to our extensive global Wi-Fi reetw Individuals use our solutions to access whabelieve is the world's largest commercial Wi-&work,
consisting of over 600,000 Wi-Fi locations, or lpatss, in over 100 countries at venues such asré;gutels, coffee shops, shopping malls, arestadjums and
quick service restaurants.

We have direct customer relationships wihrs who have purchased our mobile Internet ssvand we provide solutions to our partners, winichude telecor
operators, cable companies, technology companiéspgise software and services companies, and cmications companies to allow their
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millions of users to connect to the mobile Intethedugh hotspots in our network. As of December2Riil2, we have grown our subscriber base to 28440
increase of 10.5% over the prior year.

Individuals who are accustomed to the bienef broadband performance at home and workegkisg the same applications, performance andadikty on-
thego, through smartphones, laptops, tablet compateiother devices. We believe that this consummiade has created a significant market opportuhay we ar
uniquely positioned to capture.

We generate revenue from individual ugeastners and advertisers. Individual users progjggroximately 45% of our revenue by purchasing maotmonth
subscription plans that automatically renew, ospot specific single-use access to our networkdtfition, our partners pay us usage-based netvaodsa and
software licensing fees to allow their customeiseas to our network. We also generate revenue tietsoom operators that pay us one-time build-oes fend
recurring access fees so that their cellular custemrmay use our DAS at locations where we also geaaad operate the Wi-Fi network. We also geneeatenue
from advertisers that seek to reach our usersspitinsored access, promotional programs and digpsrtising at locations where we manage and opéhnatWi-Fi
network and locations where we solely provide aritledl access to a partner's Wi-Fi network throyggnsored access and promotional programs.

We install, manage and operate wirelessariitinfrastructure to provide Wi services at our managed and operated hotspb&sewve generally have exclus
multi-year agreements.

We were incorporated in the State of Delawa April 2001 under the name Project Mammoth, &md changed our name to Boingo Wireless, In@dtober
2001. Our principal executive offices are locatetlds Angeles, California. Our website addressvismioingo.com.

Industry Overview

Popular business and consumer applicatioos as streaming media, online games, social nlitvgp cloud storage, software-as-a-service andoichlling
require high-speed, high-bandwidth Internet accEssse data-intensive applications are drivingsmalkation in Internet data traffic. With the prefiétion of
smartphones, laptops, tablet computers and othd¥i\&abled devices, users expect to be able tsadbe same content and information while ongtiheMobile dat
consumption is expected to increase by 13 times 2012 to 2017 as projected by Cisco's Visual Ngtimg Index.

The adoption, growth and advancement oftgthanes are key catalysts for the acceleratidnigif-speed and high-bandwidth mobile Internet usabe
improved computing power, rich graphical user iftees and Internet capabilities of these devicablermobile users to make video calls or streafrdualgth movies
contributing to the vast expansion of the wirelemssumption of data. For example, the average pitmame user generated 11 times the amount of dfi tr
generated by the average non-smartphone user #) 26&ording to Cisco's Visual Networking Index.dely-used mobile applications allow individualsaitress the
same content and services on their smartphonesthadmobile devices that they use at their homedfizes. According to Infonetics, the number tibpe-based
mobile broadband subscribers is expected to re&chillion in 2016, representing a compound anmguaivth rate, or CAGR, of 22% from 2011. In additiB3% of
total mobile data traffic was offloaded through Wier femtocells in 2012 and without offload, mebdata traffic would have grown 96% rather than 702012,
according to Cisco's Visual Networking Index.

To cope with the significant increase ipested global mobile Internet data traffic, netwoperators are rapidly expanding their capacityiamesting in
technologies such as 3G and 4G cellular networksoAling to International Data Corporation or ID@arly 300 of these operators have deployed 3Gi&nd
networks in more than 120 countries. These investsnavhile necessary, are only
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a short-term solution not capable of meeting timg{term demand for data usage. To ease the sfra&ilolar networks by off-loading data, networkeogtors have
also been investing in Wi-Fi and emerging technie®®guch as Worldwide Interoperability for Microwakecess, or WiIMAX and Super Wi-Fi, a new technoldiggt
has not yet been implemented.

Wi-Fi provides higher speed and higher badth per user in high density locations, and mser and less expensive to deploy than additioekdilar network
capacity. The benefits of and consumer demand fefFiWave led hardware manufacturers to includeRi&s a standard feature on laptops and tablet ctarg and
increasingly, smartphones, digital cameras andelddnedia devices. Shipments of semiconductorsahiat enable Wi-Fi connectivity are expected tmgio
929 million in 2013, according to IDC. Wi-Fi hasdoene the standard protocol for residential ancteflvireless networks and is increasingly prevatepublic
venues, such as airports, hotels, coffee shopppgigpmalls, arenas, stadiums, campuses and geiigice restaurants.

Challenges Facing Our Industry

The mobile Internet is a complex and camtteevolving ecosystem, comprised of over a hillmobile Internet-enabled devices from dozens ofufecturers,
which are powered by many different operating systeDevices use different network technologiesrandt be configured with the appropriate softwardetect and
optimize a connection to the mobile Internet. Tdamplexity is amplified as new device models andraping systems are released, new categories afedelvecome
Internet-enabled, and new network technologies geer

The increasing number of mobile Internetfdad devices in this ecosystem is causing an ewga rapid increase in data consumption. Desp#&edipg billions
of dollars every year to expand their networksyoek and telecom operators still face capacityiséa networks. Innovations in broadband technokgigch as 3G
and 4G will not be sufficient to relieve the straim networks.

Our Strategy
We believe we are the leading global prewiof commercial mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutionseKelements of our strategy to extend that leadcare

. Grow the installed base of our softwar&Ve intend to acquire new software users throbghgtowing number of our managed and operated tistsp
worldwide and by partnering with leading manufaetarof smartphones, laptops, tablet computers Reddgers to make our software client available in
online application marketplaces, or app stores,matbaded on their devices.

. Leverage our neutr-host business modt Our neutre-host model enables us to partner with venue opsratrause we allow their customer
access the venue's network regardless of the castoWi-Fi provider. We also partner with telecopermtors that are attracted to us because we do nof
compete for cellular subscribers. We intend toease the value of our network by partnering wittlitg@hal venues, network operators, telecom
operators and technology companies.

. Invest in our platform to enhance the customer B&pee. We continue to extend our platform by adding fiestures such as the ability to locate
connect to free and open networks, access to addithetworks through sponsorships and promotipragrams, integration with leading social
networking sites and support for additional forelgmguages. We also plan to improve the monetimatapabilities of our business model through
location based services, data analytics, in-ckelvertising and e-commerce.

. Expand our networl We intend to continue to grow our global netwbykincreasing our managed and operated presemdgatts and other venu
such as shopping malls, arenas,
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stadiums, campuses and quick service restauramsl$ plan to enter into new roaming agreemerits ather network and hotspot operators.

. Grow our business internationall We believe that the market for -Fi mobile Internet services will grow rapidly in Expe, Asia, Central and Sot
America as the penetration of smartphones and dtiéii enabled devices increases. We plan to castour growth beyond the recent additions of the
Lisbon Portela Airport, Berlin Tegel Airport, Stgért Airport, Tokyo International Airport and Naxitnternational Airport.

. Increase our brand awarenes We will continue to seek new ways to promote lmand through our managed and operated hotspotintérel to
enhance our brand through low-cost co-marketingngements with our partners and through periodimptional and sponsorship activities and by
continuing to leverage the reach of social mediateract with our customers.

Services

Our solution makes it easy, convenient@osl effective for individuals to find and gain ass to the mobile Internet through high-speed,-badwidth Wi-Fi
networks globally.

Retail. We enable individuals to purchase mobile Irteatcess at our managed and operated hotsposel@et partner locations around the world. We ddfer
selection of month-to-month subscription and single access plans. Our most common plans are 188 $@®nth-to-month subscription, the $7.95 montatmth
smartphone only subscription and the single-usa®@mAsYouGo at $7.95 per day. Our single-use aqaass provide unlimited access to a specific huitépr a
defined period of time, tolled from the time theeufrst logs on to the network. We will continuelaunch other flexible plans to meet the evolviegds of our
customers.

Retail Plan Device Purchase Method
Subscription:
Boingo Unlimited Laptop, Tablet, and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Mobile Smartphone and Tabl Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Global Laptop, Tablet and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Boingo UK and Irelan: Laptop, Tablet and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Europe Plu Laptop, Tablet and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Asia Pacific Laptop, Tablet and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Single-use:
Boingo AsYouGc Laptop, Tablet, and Smartpho Charge Card and PayF
Boingo Wi-Fi Credits Apple iOS device: Apple iTunes

Wholesale. Our integrated hardware and software platfofows us to provide a range of value-added senticestwork operators, technology companies,
enterprise software and services companies, teleparators and venue operators.

. Roaming service: We offer roaming services across our entire netwbover 600,000 hotspot locations to our pagneho can then provide mob
Internet services to their customers at theseitmtsit

. Platform services We license our proprietary software and provioféngare integration and development services topbatform services partner

This enables them to integrate our mobile Intesoéition with their product and service offerin@air solution includes our proprietary, patented
techniques for wireless signal detection, presimtatnd network aggregation.
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. DAS infrastructure We offer our telecom operator partners accessitdAS infrastructure at certain of our managed eperated hotspot locatior
We deploy our DAS infrastructure within airportdasther locations that require additional signedrsgth to improve the quality of cellular services.

. Turn-key solutions We offer our venue partners the ability to impéerna tur-key Wi-Fi solution, with no initial investment, throughNé-Fi network
infrastructure that we install, manage and operate.

Advertising. Our platform provides a valuable opportunity ddvertisers to reach a targeted base of viditoosir landing pages with sponsored access,
promotional programs and display advertising. Wa/jole advertisers the opportunity to sponsor waglaternet access to individuals at locations eher manage
and operate the Wi-Fi network and locations whegesalely provide authorized access to a partnerBitvetwork through sponsored access and promaition
programs. We also offer display advertising basetpressions delivered by our platform.

Our Network

In 2006, we acquired Concourse Communioati®roup, LLC and its network of 12 managed andaipd airports, which became our first managedogedated
hotspots. In 2007, we acquired Sprint Spectruntiwor& of seven managed and operated airports aachon-exclusive airport, and in 2008, we acquireti-Bi
Networks, LLC which included V-Fi networks at 25 airports and the WashingtoneStatrries.

Through our managed and operated hotspdtear strategic partnership arrangements, usersderess to over 600,000 hotspots worldwide inesrsuch as
airports, hotels, coffee shops, shopping mallyasgestadiums and quick service restaurants. Wgrdésiild, monitor and maintain the Wi-Fi netwakour managed
and operated hotspot locations primarily locatethenUnited States and Europe. Our strategic pastiigarrangements with over 140 network operattiosv us to
extend our global network to over 100 countrieslgwide.

Boingo hotspot locations by region as ot&maber 31, 2012:

Café / Convention
Region Airport Retail Center Hotel Other(1) Total
North America 11% 2,25¢ 48 3,93 3,89¢ 10,25(
South Americe 7S 1,677 4 67 41% 2,24(
Europe, Middle East and Afric 26E 15,84: 28z 12,82¢ 211,81: 241,03:
Asia 182 81,14¢ 42z  25,88: 308,40: 416,03
Total 641 100,92t 757 42,717 524,52: 669,55¢

1) Includes schools and universities, offices, hosp#ad public space
Marketing and Business Development

Our marketing and business developmenttsffre designed to cost effectively attract ataimenew customers, expand our footprint of Wi-&idpot, DAS and
advertising locations and identify business padtieat could leverage our network to provide mobliternet services to their customers. We focusféinient
customer acquisition and brand building throughan#ine presence, in-venue signage, public reiationarket research and other promotional activitie

We seek to maximize customer lifetime vdlyenanaging subscriber acquisition cost, extendigjomer life and determining appropriate pricMég use
information about subscriber behavior to help wainecustomers and determine premium offerings. s@gmentation is focused at the product
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level, so that we provide the right product, plad arice for each customer in each region of thddwehere we operate. Our consumer plans are &aifar
essentially all Wi-Fi enabled devices and are prime a month-to-month or per-use basis.

We issue regular press releases annoumpagrtant partnerships and product developmentsantinually update our website with informatioroabour
network and services.

Development

Our development efforts are focused prilyam increasing the ease of use and functionafityur software client, integrating our softwareot with our
wholesale partners and continuing to adapt oumiglolgy to new operating systems and platforms. d@welopment model is based on a structured developm
process that incorporates Agile development prastio any deviations can be promptly correctethpmave reliability in our network and enhance coso
satisfaction. We typically deliver product releaaas feature enhancements on a semi-annual basithé-years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
development and technology expenses were $10.8mi$#9.4 million and $8.5 million, respectively.

Technology

Over the past 12 years, we have developgutiptary systems that include the Boingo softwdient; authentication, authorization and trackaygtems;
mediation and billing systems; and a real-time afj@enal support and software configuration and mgisg infrastructure.

Boingo Software Client

The Boingo software client is installed\&itFi enabled devices such as smartphones, lagtogpgablet computers. The key features of the Bogaftware client
include:

. Simple user interfacte The Boingo software client provides individualgshaan uncomplicated, us-friendly interface designed to streamline the-Fi
network connection process. The software findsguitsand monitors the availability of Wi-Fi hotspat the Boingo network, presents a notification
message of the hotspot identified and allows oimé-ciser connections. In some devices, connecti@nBoingo Wi-Fi hotspot occurs in the
background, providing the user with a seamlessfication-free connectivity experience.

. Support for all major operating system platforr The Boingo software client supports a wide raoigeptop and mobile device operating syste
including Android, BlackBerry OS, iOS, Linux, Mac QSymbian, Unix and Windows.

. Automatic updates The Boingo software client automatically receiidentification information for new hotspot locat®as they are added to-
Boingo network, including any information needectdomatically identify and login to the networlodation information, allowing a user to find
Boingo hotspots from the client, is also automdlijagpdated. On all but embedded platforms, sofengwdates are also automatically offered to a user
when available.

. Custom branding and flexible integration alternasy We offer wholesale customers the ability to inédg the Boingo software client into th

products and services. Additionally, we offer wisalle customers the option to utilize a custom,amdbed reference design of the software client irs
our retail customer offering.

Authentication, Authorization and Tracking System

Our proprietary authentication, authoriaatand tracking system enables the reliable, sleabatnl secure initiation and termination of userRMsessions on our
network. This system authenticates our
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network users across a wide variety of hotspotsmetaork operators, through a normalized authetidicgrotocol. Through the authorization processtam
business rules ensure user access based on spevifice parameters such as location, type of desirvice plan and account information. Our system captures
duration, data traffic, location, and type of devigve normalize and process this data from dispamatviders for our use and for our wholesale gastn

Mediation and Billing System

Our mediation and billing system recordd analyzes individual usage sessions requireditiobWi-Fi usage. Users are charged based oralbes such as
pricing plan, device type, location, time and antmfruse. Our system consolidates usage sessiommiafion, determines the user identity and appiesappropriate
aggregation and flagging to ensure proper usageepsing. Our system handles exceptions automati€&dteptions that cannot be solved automatica#ybaought tc
the attention of the operations staff, who redtify discrepancies. The billing system providésgibased on roaming relationship, user typejaketype and
account type. Our retail customer mediation anlthgiis handled by the same infrastructure usedvtaolesale customer and billing, resulting in efficies of scale
and operation.

Software Configuration and Messaging System

Our software configuration system providesl-time network configuration updates for appnexiely 1,450 networks and 101 detection and logithodologies
used by the Boingo software client to access otwark. Our software configuration system automdijaegisters new network definitions and login medologies t
allow individuals to connect to our hotspot locagoAll supported platforms use a single configoratproviding a high level of operational and tefficiency. Our
messaging system enables real-time customer raditfitand system interaction at login, based oation, network, user, account type, device and eisBlgis
approach enables us and our partners to delivesroumarketing or service messages.

Operations

We provide significant operational supgortour managed and operated Wi-Fi hotspots aner dtbtspots in our network. For our managed andabee Wi-Fi
hotspots, we design, build, monitor and maintaenrtatwork. For roaming partners, we monitor hotggiime and report outages so that they can bélguiemedied
We have service level agreements with our roamartnprs specifying minimum network uptime requiratse

Our Wi-Fi deployments are based on the IBEE 11a, b, g and n standards and operate in4h@8t2z and 5 GHz unlicensed spectrum bands. Odogeents
may also include DAS within venues requiring enteghcellular coverage.

Customers

We generate revenue primarily from ouritetastomers and wholesale partners. Our retatiorners purchase month-to-month subscription plaats t
automatically renew, or single-use access to otworé. We acquire our retail customers primarilyrfr mobile Internet users passing through our mahagd
operated locations, where we generally have exdusiulti-year agreements. Some of our wholesaltnees license our software and pay usage-basedreducess
fees to allow their customers access to our gléliaFi network. Other wholesale partners that alectem operators pay us one-time builat-fees and recurring acc
fees for our DAS network, enabling their cellulastomers to access these networks. Some of ouesddelpartners pay us to provide Wi-Fi servicaheir venue
locations under a service provider arrangement.vdalesale partner relationships are generally geaby multi-year contracts. We acquire our whallepartners
through our business
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development efforts. We also generate revenue &adwvertisers that seek to reach visitors to theifenpgages at our managed and operated networkdasawith
online advertising, promotional and sponsored f@ogr. For the year ended December 31, 2012, twegrouentities affiliated with Verizon Communicatg Inc.
and AT&T Inc. each collectively accounted for o€ of total revenue. For the year ended Decembe2®L1, one group of entities affiliated with \zm
Communications, Inc. accounted for over 10% oflte@enue. The loss of these groups and the custorneld have a material adverse impact on ouratiotaged
statements of operations.

Key Business Metrics
In addition to monitoring traditional fineial measures, we also monitor our operating perémce using the following key performance indicsitor

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except churn data
Subscriber: 284 257 20C
Monthly churn 9.7% 9.2% 9.5%
Connects 24,49( 12,31+ 9,30¢

Subscribers. This metric represents the number of payingilretistomers who are on a month-to-month subserigtlan at a given period end.

Monthly churn. This metric shows the number of subscribers vdreled their subscriptions in a given monthyesged as a percentage of the average
subscribers in that month. The churn in a giveiodds the average monthly churn in that periodsTheasure is one indicator of the longevity of suibscribers.
Some of our customers who cancel subscriptionstaiaiaccounts for single-use access.

Connects. This metric shows how often individuals connteabur global Wi-Fi network in a given period. Tbennects include retail and wholesale customers
in both customer pay locations and customer freations where we are a paid service provider @ivecsponsorship or promotional fees. We count eadhect as a
single connect regardless of how many times thdividual accesses the network at a given venuenguhieir 24 hour period. This measure is an indicat paid
activity throughout our network.

Retail Customer Support Services

We provide support services to our retaftomers 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365mkyyear, by phone, chat or email. Our webs#e ebntains a
comprehensive list of responses to frequently askedtions, and we monitor and respond to socidiam@mmunications regarding our services. We pi@gupport
services through our internal customer care deartieind we rely on a third-party provider for masbur standard customer support.

Competition

The market for mobile Internet services aalditions is fragmented and competitive. We belitne principal competitive factors in our industrglude the
following:

. price;

. ease of access and use;
. quality of service

. geographic react
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. bundled service offering:
. brand name recognition; a
. flexible pricing plans

We believe we face no material direct cotibes to our service offerings. Indirect compatitinclude telecom operators, WiMAX operators, cagmpanies,
self-managed venue networks and smaller wirelgssriat service providers. Some of these competitave substantially greater resources, larger mestbases,
longer operating histories and greater name retiogrthan we have. Others offer bundled data sesweith primary service offerings that we do ndeoguch as
landline and cellular telephone service, cableatelbte television, media and fixed-line Interndiany of our indirect competitors are also partriessn whom we
receive revenue when their customers access owprietWe believe that we compete favorably basedemygraphic coverage, network reliability, quatifyservice,
ease of use and cost.

Intellectual Property

Our ongoing success will depend in partrupor ability to protect our core technology anliectual property. To accomplish this, we relyaocombination of
intellectual property rights, including trade sésr@atents, copyrights and trademarks, as welbasactual restrictions.

We have two issued U.S. patents which expi2022 and six patent applications pending enlhited States, one of which is also pending padatwo of whicl
are also pending in the European Patent Officea@anlapan, South Korea, and China, and one ohwhjzending with the Patent Cooperation Treaty.H&\e one
issued Japanese patent, which has a maximum tatraxpires in 2027. We intend to pursue correspangatent coverage in additional countries to ttierg we
believe such coverage is appropriate and costtaféec

Our registered trademarks in the UnitedeStand the European Union include "Boingo", "BoiMgi-Finder", and "Don't just go. Boingo.", andtire United
States, "Cloud 9 Media". We own additional registras and have filed other trademark applicationthe United States and other countries.

In addition to the foregoing protectiong wontrol access to, and use of, our proprietaityvace and other confidential information througle use of internal ar
external controls, including contractual protecsiavith employees, contractors, customers and part@air software is protected by United Statesiatetnational
copyright laws.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 160 emgsyimcluding 55 in development and technologyinGperations, 29 in business development and rtingkand
16 in general and administrative. All of our empey are full-time employees. None of our emplogeesepresented by a labor union or are covereddwojiective
bargaining agreement. We have never experiencedrmpjoyment related work stoppages and considatioak with our employees to be good. As of DecerBlie
2012, we also had arrangements with a third pattycenter provider in New York that provided ugtwapproximately 40 full-time equivalent contrastéor retail
customer support service and similar functions.

Facilities

We currently lease approximately 27,000asgdieet of space for our corporate headquartdresmingeles, California under a lease agreemexttetkpires in
February 2018. We also lease an additional 13,08re feet in aggregate office space in San Fremcalifornia; Chicago, lllinois;
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Lake Success, New York; McKinney, Texas; Detroit, hgan; and London, United Kingdom. We believe aunrent office facilities will be adequate for the
foreseeable future.

Legal

We are not presently a party to any mdtegal proceedings. From time to time, we may Ineednvolved in legal proceedings in the ordinaryrse of our
business.

Financial Information about Segments and Geographiéreas

Reference to our segments and the geograpéas where we operate is contained in NoteoRit@accompanying Consolidated Financial Stateriantsded in
Part Il, Item 8 of this report.

Available Information

Our filings with the United States Secestand Exchange Commission or SEC, including timsial report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports onnfrdi0-Q, and
current reports on Form 8-K are available freetafrge through the Investor Relations section ofcoanpany's website attp://www.boingo.comand are accessible
soon as reasonably practicable after being electiby filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Copies of this report are also availabde fof charge from Boingo Corporate Investor Comications, 10960 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 800, Los AngeleA 90024.
In addition, our Corporate Governance GuidelinesjeCof Business Conduct and Ethics and writtentereof the committees of the Board of Directors arcessible
through the Corporate Governance tab in the Invé&tations section of our website and are avalabprint to any stockholder who requests a copy.

You may read and copy materials that weeiiith the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Rddii@F Street, NE, Washington DC 20549. Informatia the
operation of the Public Reference Room is availalglealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC taais a website that contains reports and othernmdtion
we file, and proxy statements to be filed with 8#C. The address of the SEC's websitdts//www.sec.gov

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should consider carefully the rigksgl uncertainties described below, together witloathe
other information in this report on Form 10-K, inding our accompanying consolidated financial steats and the related notes, before deciding whéthe
purchase shares of our common stock. If any ofaf@wving risks actually occur, our business, fio&i condition, results of operations and prospemisld be
materially and adversely affected. The price of cmmmon stock could decline and you could lose graat! of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

A significant portion of our revenue is dependent our relationships with our venue and network pasrs, and if these relationships are impaired orrtenated,
or if our partners do not perform as expected, dwrsiness and results of operations could be matéyiand adversely affected.

We depend on our relationships with veraigners, particularly key airport venue partnersrider to manage and operate Wi-Fi hotspots. Tiedagonships
generate a significant portion of our revenue dlvaus to generate new retail customers. Our agesgs with our venue partners are for defined perand of
varying durations. If our venue partners termiratéail to renew these agreements, our abilitydnegate and retain retail customers would be dghed and our
network of Wi-Fi hotspots would be reduced, whiciglm result in a significant disruption of our busss and adversely affect our operating results.
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We depend on our relationships with netwmakners to allow users to roam across Wi-Fi nete/that we do not manage or operate. A signifipantion of our
revenue depends on maintaining these relationstithsetwork partners. Some network partners magpete with us for retail customers and may deade t
terminate our partnerships and instead develop etimpretail products and services. Our networltrgaragreements are for defined periods and ofivgugurations.
If our network partners terminate these agreementsjl to renew these agreements, our abilitsetain retail customers could be diminished andnetwork of Wi-
Fi hotspots could be reduced, which could resuét significant disruption of our business and aselyraffect our operating results.

Worldwide economic conditions, and theirpirct on travel and consumer spending, may adverséigct our business, operating results and finaati
condition.

Global economic conditions have been wealafprolonged period of time, and levels of trau@ll consumer spending have been particularly depde Our
business is impacted by travel and consumer spgnid@tause users seek to access the mobile Inteniietthey are on-the-go, and because spendirigtemet
access is often a consumer discretionary spendioigidn. Factors that tend to negatively impacelewf travel include high unemployment, high eggdces, low
business and consumer confidence, the fear ofrigradtacks, war and other macroeconomic facteenomic conditions that tend to negatively impacels of
discretionary consumer spending include high unegmpént, high consumer debt, reductions in net waltipressed real estate markets, increased taxatipn
energy prices, high interest rates, low consumefidence and other macroeconomic factors. If tidagll economic recovery is slower than expected,ibweakens,
our retail customer base, new retail customer attipn and usagbased revenue could be materially harmed, andesuitts of operations would be adversely affe

Our business depends upon demand for mohiternet services on Wi-Fi networks, market adaptiof new technologies and our ability to adaptsoch
changes.

Our future success depends upon growingaddrfor mobile Internet services, which is inhelsenhcertain. The demand for mobile Internet sexsimay
decrease or may grow more slowly than expected.sieh decrease in the demand or slowing rate @ftgroould have a material adverse effect on ouiniess. The
continued demand for mobile Internet services dépem the continued proliferation of smartphonaslett computers and other Wi-Fi enabled deviceglamdate of
evolution of data-intensive applications on the iieolmternet. Historically, we have derived subsily all our retail revenue from laptop users wiwrchased month-
to-month subscriptions or single-use access. Wefawgy/challenges as we seek to increase the regemegated from the usage on smartphones, tablgiuwders and
other mobile devices.

Our business depends on the continuedratieg of Wi-Fi as a standard feature in mobileides. If Wi-Fi ceases to be a standard featureahila devices, or if
the rate of integration of Wi-Fi on mobile devidecreases or is slower than expected, the marketifeservices may be substantially diminished.

Competing technologies pose a risk to treinued use of Wi-Fi as a mobile Internet techggldrhe introduction and market acceptance of emgngireless
technologies such as 4G, WiMAX and Super Wi-Fi, daduse significant disruption to our businessctvimay result in a loss of customers, users arehre, If
users find emerging wireless technologies to bficseifitly fast, convenient or cost effective, weynmot be able to compete effectively, and our Bbib attract or
retain users will be impaired. Additionally, onemore of our partners may deploy emerging wiretesinologies that could reduce the partner's reaotk with us,
and may result in significant loss of revenue adiiction of the hotspots in our network.
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We deliver value to our users by providamgple access to Wi-Fi hotspots, regardless of hdreve manage and operate the hotspot, or thedtasspperated by
a partner. As a result, our business depends oability to anticipate and quickly adapt to chamgiachnological standards and advances. If techigabstandards
change and we fail to adapt accordingly, our bissirgnd revenue may be adversely affected. Furtheritie proliferation of new mobile devices andratiag
platforms poses challenges for our research anelalewment efforts. If we are unable to create sinsplations for a particular device or operatingfplan, we will be
unable to effectively attract users of these devareoperating platforms and our business will heeasely affected.

The growth of free Wi-Fi networks may conteavith our paid mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutions.

Many venues, including airports coffee shapgd hotels, offer free mobile Wi-Fi as an inceatdr value-added benefit to their customers. Fre€iWhay reduce
retail customer demand for our services, and putngeard pressure on the prices we charge our @taibmers. In addition, telecom operators may dfésr mobile
Wi-Fi as part of a home broadband or other servizgract, which also may force down the prices herge our retail customers. If we are unable tectiffely offset
this downward pressure on our prices by being &Wgervice provider, or if we are unable to acqainé retain retail customers, we will have lowefppmargins anc
our operating results and financial condition mayakversely impacted.

Negotiations with prospective wholesaletpars can be lengthy and unpredictable, which meguse our operating results to vary.

Our negotiations with prospective partrieracquire Wi-Fi hotspots to operate, to acquisemimg rights on partners' networks, or for newnpeng to implement
our solutions, can be lengthy, and in some casetasaover 12 months. Because of the lengthy meggat cycle, the time required to reach a finaleggnent with a
partner is unpredictable and may lead to variaircesr operating results from quarter to quartergbtiations with prospective partners also regsitestantial time,
effort and resources. We may ultimately fail in oegotiations, resulting in costs to our busineSout any associated benefits.

We may be unsuccessful in expanding inteweenue types, which could harm the growth of owsliness, operating results and financial condition.

We are negotiating with existing and praspe partners to expand our managed and operatdd Métwork footprint in venue types where we bigtally have
had only a limited presence. Expansion into theseig types, and in particular shopping malls, stadiand quick service restaurants, may requirefsigntly higher
initial capital expenditures than we have histdlycimcurred. In contrast to Wi-Fi network build-tsuat venues such as airports, where telecom apsitgpically pay
the substantial expense of laying cable or fibermay be required to incur the initial capital exge of access points and related hardware andgadiltens of
thousands of quick serve restaurant locations andrieds of shopping malls and stadium locationsnvslg not be able to execute on our strategy oethey not be
returns on these investments in the near futueg all. As a result, our business, financial caonditind results of operations could be materially adversely affecte

We have a limited operating history andeatively new business in an emerging market, soimvestment in our company involves more risk than
investment in a more mature company in an estabéidhindustry.

We have a limited operating history witk thobile Wi-Fi Internet solutions that we providénich were developed in 2001. We currently attthetmajority of
our retail customers at our managed and operatispdts that we acquired in 2006. As a result, wetzlimited operating
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history for you to evaluate in assessing our fuprespects and it is difficult to forecast our grests. Also, we derive nearly all of our revenusrfrmobile Internet
services, which are new and highly dynamic busigsshich face significant challenges. You showldsader our business and prospects in light ofities,
uncertainties and difficulties we will encounteraasemerging company in a new and rapidly evolwragket. We may not be able to address these rigkgrtainties
and difficulties successfully, which could matdsidiarm our business and operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate unexgtedly, which makes them difficult to predict andayncause us to fail to meet the expectations oestors,
adversely affecting our stock price.

We operate in a highly dynamic industry aod future quarterly operating results may flutdusignificantly. Our revenue and operating resuléy vary from
quarter to quarter due to many factors, many ottviaire not within our control. As a result, compgrour operating results on a period-to-periodsasy not be
meaningful. Further, it is difficult to accuratdlyrecast our revenue, margin and operating resauis if we fail to match our expected results erribsults expected by
financial analysts, the trading price of our comrstock may be adversely affected.

Factors that contribute to fluctuation®iur operating results from quarter-to-quarter idetu

. the rate at which individuals adopt our solutic

. the timing and success of new technology introdmstiby us or our competitors;

. our gain or loss of a key venue partner, roamintnpaor platform services partni

. the growing prevalence of free -Fi models and our ability to adapt and compete Wéb W-Fi;
. the number of air travel passengers, particulaukiress travelers;

. intellectual property disputes; a

. general economic conditions in our domestic andifpr markets

Due to these and other factors, quartedi@dter comparisons of our historical operatingiiteshould not be relied upon as accurate indisatbour future
performance.

We may not maintain recent rates of revergrewth.

Although our revenue has increased subatgndver the last few years, we may not be ablmaintain historical rates of revenue growth. \kdve that our
continued growth will depend, among other factorssuccessfully implementing our business strasegieluding our ability to:

. attract new users, convert users of our s-use services into subscribers and keep existingcsibiers actively using our servic
. develop new sources of revenue from our users andess;

. react to changes in the way individuals accessuardhe mobile Interne

. expand into new market

. increase the awareness of our bre

. retain our existing partners and attract new pastrand

. provide our users with a superior experience, iiolg customer support and payment experier

However, we cannot guarantee that we wikessfully implement any of these business stiegeg
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System failures could harm our business.

Although we seek to reduce the possibditdisruptions or other outages, our business neagisrupted by problems with our technology andesys, such as an
access point failure at one of our managed andatgethotspots, or a backhaul disruption. We haperenced system failures from time to time, angliaterruption
in the ability of users to access our solution ddwdrm our business and reputation.

Our systems may be vulnerable to damaggenruption from telecommunications failures, cartgy denial-of-service attacks, power loss, compuiteses,
earthquakes, floods, fires, terrorist attacks amilar events. Some of our systems are not fuljurelant, and our disaster recovery planning isufficient for all
eventualities. Our systems may also be damageddakins, sabotage, and acts of vandalism. Despite esgaptions we may take, the occurrence of a natiisate
or other unanticipated problems could result igtag interruptions in the availability of the Boimgolution. We do not carry business interruptitsurance to
compensate us for all losses that may result fremvice interruptions caused by system failuresidfare unable to resolve service interruptionsiduiour ability to
acquire and retain customers will be impaired amdoperating results and business could be adyeafielcted.

We may be unsuccessful in expanding oueimational operations, which could harm the growtf our business, operating results and financialrudition.

Our ability to expand internationally invek various risks, including the need to investificant resources in unfamiliar markets, and thegibility that there
may not be returns on these investments in thefokae or at all. In addition, we have incurrediaxpect to continue to incur expenses before wergée any
material revenue in these new markets. Our expamsans will require significant management at@mtnd resources. We have limited experience iimgelur
solutions in international markets or in conformtodocal cultures, standards or policies. We matytre able to compete successfully in these intimea markets.
Our ability to expand will also be limited by therdand for mobile Internet in international mark&#terent privacy, censorship and liability standand
regulations and different intellectual property $aiw foreign countries may cause our business padating results to suffer.

Any future international operations may faisucceed due to risks inherent in foreign ofp@na, including:

. different technological solutions for mobile Intetrthan those used in North Ameri

. varied, unfamiliar and unclear legal and regulatestrictions

. unexpected changes in international regulatoryirements and tariffs

. legal, political or systemic restrictions on théligbof U.S. companies to do business in foreiguiatries;
. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act compliance and relaiteks;

. difficulties in staffing and managing foreign opiias;

. currency fluctuations; ar

. potential adverse tax consequent

As a result of these obstacles, we mayifiddficult or prohibitively expensive to expariaternationally or we may be unsuccessful in oterapt to do so, whic
could harm our business, operating results anadiafcondition.
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Our industry is competitive and if we dotrcompete successfully, we could lose market shexperience reduced revenue or suffer losses.

The market for commercial mobile Wi-Fi sidas is competitive and impacted by technologatgnge, and we expect competition with our curaswit potential
competitors to intensify in the future. In partiaylsome of our competitors have taken steps ordeeigle to more aggressively compete against uscyarly in the
market for venue build-outs of Wi-Fi and DAS sabuis.

Our competitors, many of whom are alsogartners, include a variety of telecom operatodsregtwork operators, including AT&T, T-Mobile, Cablsion,
Comcast and local operators. These and other ciétoigdtave developed or may develop technologiasdbmpete directly with our solutions. Many of our
competitors are substantially larger than we atehave substantially longer operating histories.iég not be able to fund or invest in certain adasur business to
the same degree as our competitors. Many have stibfiiagreater product development and marketindgets and other financial and personnel resotineeswe
do. Some also have greater name and brand reayaitd a larger base of subscribers or users thdrawe. In addition, our competitors may providwises that we
do not, such as cellular, local exchange and lastgmice services, voicemail, digital subscribeg Bmd subscription television services. Usersdhatre these services
may choose to also obtain mobile Wi-Fi Internetimes from a competitor that provides these adud#igervices rather than from us.

Furthermore, we rely on several of our cetitprs as partners in roaming agreements. Theingaagreements provide that our retail customedsoam wholesal
partners' customers may use the Wi-Fi networksiopartners. One or more of our partners may degoypeting technologies that could reduce the pastmeed to
work with us under a roaming agreement. If ourmpend decide to terminate our roaming agreements)etwork of Wi-Fi hotspots may be reduced, whicymesult
in a significant disruption to our business.

Competition could increase our selling aratrketing expenses and related customer acquisitists. \WWe may not have the financial resourcebnteal expertis
or marketing and support capabilities to contirmiedmpete successfully. A failure to respond taldi&hed and new competitors may adversely impacbosiness
and operating results.

The regulation of Internet communicationproducts and services is currently uncertain, whiposes risks for our business from changes in lavegulations
and interpretation or enforcement of existing laves regulations.

The current regulatory environment for ine2 communications, products and services is taiceMany laws and regulations were adopted pddhé advent ¢
the Internet and related technologies and oftenad@ontemplate or address the specific issues@assd with the Internet and related technologigé® scope of laws
and regulations applicable to the Internet remaircertain and is subject to statutory or interpeethange. We cannot be certain that we, our partreour users are
currently in compliance with regulatory or othegadérequirements in the numerous countries in whighservice is used. Our failure or the failureof partners,
users and others with whom we transact business,wihom we license the Boingo solution, to compith existing or future regulatory or other legafjuirements
could materially adversely affect our businessafitial condition and results of operations. Regufamay disagree with our interpretations of emgstaws or
regulations or the applicability of existing lawsregulations to our business, and existing laggulations and interpretations may change in ureggevays.

We believe that the Boingo solution is be torefront of mobile Internet technology, andréfere it may face greater regulatory scrutiny tbtrer
communications products and services. We cannoetiain what positions regulators may take regardir compliance with, or lack of compliance withiyrent and
future legal and regulatory requirements or whaitmms regulators may
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take regarding any past or future actions we hakert or may take in any jurisdiction. Regulatory metermine that we are not in compliance with legel
regulatory requirements, and impose penalties,comay need to make changes to the Boingo solwtibith could be costly and difficult. Any of theseeats would
adversely affect our operating results and business

If we lose key personnel or are unableattract and retain personnel on a cost effectivestsg our business could be harmed.

Our performance is substantially dependerthe continued services and performance of miosemanagement and our highly qualified team gfiegers, many
of whom have numerous years of experience andalfpex expertise in our business. If we are notssgful in hiring and retaining highly qualifiedgemeers, we
may not be able to extend or maintain our engingeaind technological expertise and our future pcbdnd service development efforts could be adiyeesected. If
we lose members of our senior management, thissigayficantly delay or prevent the achievement wf strategic objectives and adversely affect o@rajng
results.

Our future success also depends on ouityatailidentify, attract, hire, train, retain andtivate highly skilled managerial, operations, bess development and
marketing personnel. We have in the past maintaanegorous, highly selective and time-consumimingiprocess. We believe that our approach to dnihias
significantly contributed to our success to datewver, our highly selective hiring process haseriadhore difficult for us to hire a sufficient nlrar of qualified
employees, and, as we grow, our hiring processprayent us from hiring the personnel we need imaly manner. Moreover, the cost of living in theslAngeles
area, where our corporate headquarters is locadesdheen an impediment to attracting new employete past, and we expect that this will contitménpair our
ability to attract and retain employees in the fatuf we fail to attract, integrate and retain treeessary personnel, we may not be able to grimeteiely and our
business could suffer significantly.

Ouir failure to properly maintain our custoers' confidential information and protect our netwk against security breaches could harm our bussseand
operating results.

Advances in computer capabilities, newaliseies in the field of cryptography or other depghents may result in a compromise or breach ofettienology we
use to protect user transaction data. Any compesro$ our security could damage our reputationtaadd and expose us to possible liability suchitiggion claims
which would substantially harm our business andatp® results. We may need to expend significagburces to protect against security breachesamdress
problems caused by breaches.

Many countries, such as European Union meistages as a result of the 2006 E.U. Data Retellicective, are introducing, or have already idtroed into loce
law some form of traffic and user data retentiacuieements, which are generally applicable to ptexs of electronic communications services. Retargeriods and
data types vary from country to country, and theouss local data protection and other authoritiesy implement traffic and user retention requireragagarding
certain data in different and potentially overlagpivays. Although the constitutionality of the 2aD&J). Data Retention Directive has been questiowednay be
required to comply with data retention requiremeémtsne or more jurisdictions, or we may be reqiii@ comply with these requirements in the futls@aesult of
changes or modifications to the Boingo solutiorctmeinges or modifications to the technological stinacture on which the Boingo solution is baseduF@to comply
with these retention requirements may result inrigosition of costly penalties. Compliance witlegle retention requirements can be difficult andligé®m a legal,
operational and technical perspective and coultht@rr business and operational results.
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We rely on a third-party customer suppoetgice provider for the majority of our customer gport calls. If this service provider experiencegavational
difficulties or disruptions, our business could lzlversely affected.

We depend on a third-party customer supggtice provider to handle most of our routin@itetustomer support cases. While we maintain échitustomer
support operations in our Los Angeles headquaiifevay relationship with our customer support segvrovider terminates unexpectedly, or if ourtooger service
provider experiences operational difficulties, waynmot be able to respond to customer support iceditimely manner and the quality of our custosewice would
be adversely affected. This could harm our reputaind brand image and make it difficult for usitivact and retain users. In addition, the loshefcustomer suppc
service provider would require us to identify amhtract with alternative sources, which could proree-consuming and expensive.

Material defects or errors in our softwaosuld harm our reputation, result in significant s to us and impair our ability to sell the Boingmlution.

The software underlying the Boingo soluti®imherently complex and may contain materiakdef or errors, particularly when the softwarerit fntroduced or
when new versions or enhancements are releasetiaVéefrom time to time found defects or errorsun software, and defects or errors in our exissiofjware may
be detected in the future. Any defects or erroas tAuse interruptions to the availability of oengces could result in:

. a reduction in sales or delay in market acceptahtiee Boingo solution
. sales credits or refunds to our users and wholesateers;

. loss of existing users and difficulty in attractingw users

. diversion of development resourc

. harm to our reputation and brand image; and

. increased insurance cos

The costs incurred in correcting any matetefects or errors in our software may be sulisizand could harm our operating results.

If we are not successful in developing aupbile application for new devices and platfornus, if those solutions are not widely adopted, o@sults of
operations and business could be adversely affected

As new mobile devices and platforms arestigyed, we may encounter problems in developindymts for such new mobile devices and platformd,vae may
need to devote significant resources to the creasiopport, and maintenance of such products.ditiad, if we experience difficulties integratingiromobile
applications into mobile devices, or if we facergased costs to distribute our mobile applications future growth and our results of operationsldsuffer.

If we fail to maintain relationships witlproviders of mobile operating systems or mobile liggiion download stores, our business could be abely affected

We rely on the integration of our softwar® mobile operating systems to allow mobile desito connect to our network of Wi-Fi hotspotpriblems arise
with our relationships with providers of mobile oging systems or mobile application download stpseich as the Apple App Store and Google Play,our mobile
application receives unfavorable treatment comptréde promotion and placement of competing apfibos, such as the order of our products in thbil@o
application download stores, we may fail to atti@atetain customers or partners, and our busicessl be adversely affected.
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If we fail to cost effectively develop dorand, our financial condition and operating restsd could be harmed.

We market our solution under the Boingabra/Ve believe that developing and maintaining awess of our brand is important to achieving widessp
acceptance of the Boingo solution, and is an ingmdrélement in attracting and retaining customedsgartners. Additionally, we believe that devetapihis brand in
a cost effective manner is important in meetingeyected margins. Brand promotion activities mayrasult in increased revenue, and any increasezhue
resulting from these promotion activities may nfi¢et the expenses we incurred in building our drahwe fail to cost effectively build and maimadur brand, we
may fail to attract or retain customers or partpamsl our financial condition and results of operat could be harmed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology could harm our business.

In recent years there has been signifiidgétion involving intellectual property rights imany technology-based industries, including tireless
communications industry. While we have not beeri§pally targeted, companies similar to us haverbsubject to patent lawsuits. As we face incrgasampetitior
and gain an increasingly high profile, the pos#ipdf intellectual property rights claims againstgrows. We may be subject to third-party claimthe future. The
costs of supporting these litigations and dispatesconsiderable, and there can be no assuraricefédnarable outcome will be obtained. We maydipiired to settle
these litigations and disputes on terms that afaanable to us, given the complex technical isaresinherent uncertainties in intellectual propétigation. Claims
that the Boingo solution infringes third-party itéetual property rights, regardless of their meritesolution, could also divert the efforts attértion of our
management and technical personnel. The termsydettiements or judgments may require us to:

. cease distribution and be-end operation of the Boingo solutic

. pay substantial damages for infringem:t

. expend significant resources to develop-infringing solutions

. license technology from the th-party claiming infringement, which may not be ashle on commercially reasonable terms, or a

. cros«-license our technology to a competitor to resolvénfringement claim, which could weaken our apitit compete with that competitor;
. pay substantial damages to our partners to disuomtheir use of or to replace infringing solutisodd to them with nc-infringing solutions

Any of these unfavorable outcomes couldehawmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoendition and results of operations.

If we are unable to protect our intelle@lproperty rights, our competitive position coulid harmed, or we could be required to incur sigondint expenses to
enforce our rights.

Our business depends on our ability togqmtodur proprietary technology. We rely on traderse patent, copyright and trademark laws andidenfiality
agreements with employees and third parties, ailto€h offer only limited protection. We own twotpats and have applications for six additional p&t@ending.
Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken tteptour proprietary rights may not be adequaf@éwent the use or misappropriation of our proprietnformation o
infringement of our intellectual property rightsuability to police the use, misappropriation wiringement of our intellectual property is uncertgarticularly in
countries other than the United States. Furthemlaove
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not know whether any of our pending patent appbeatwill result in the issuance of patents or kethe examination process will require us toowsrour claims.
Even if patents are issued, they may be contesitedimvented, or invalidated in the future. Moregike rights granted under any issued patents roggrovide us
with complete proprietary protection or any competi advantages, and, as with any technology, ctitopgemay be able to develop similar or supermhnologies
on their own now or in the future. Protecting agathe unauthorized use of our solutions, trademaukd other proprietary rights is expensive, cliffiand, in some
cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessaryarfiture to enforce or defend our intellectualpgmby rights, to protect our trade secrets, orgi@nine the validity
and scope of the proprietary rights of othersghition could result in substantial costs and digersf management resources, either of which cbalth our busines
Furthermore, many of our current and potential cetitgrs have the ability to dedicate substantigtiyater resources to enforce their intellectuaperty rights than
we do. Accordingly, despite our efforts, if the farction of our proprietary rights is inadequat@tevent use or misappropriation by third partiee,walue of our brar
and other intangible assets may be diminished entpetitors may be able to more effectively mimic service and methods of operations. Any of thesats would
have a material adverse effect on our businesa€ial condition and results of operations.

Our use of open source software could limir ability to commercialize the Boingo solution.

We have incorporated open source softwacethe Boingo solution. Although we closely monibair use of open source software, we are sulpebitterms of
open source licenses that have not been interppgtedS. or foreign courts, and there is a risk thdhe future these licenses could be constrnedmanner that
imposes unanticipated conditions or restriction®@onability to commercialize the Boingo solutidn that event, we could be required to seek liceffisen third
parties or to re-engineer our software in orderawtinue offering the Boingo solution, or to distione operations, any of which could materially exbely affect our
business.

We utilize unlicensed spectrum in certaihaur offerings which is subject to intense compein, low barriers of entry and slowdowns due to Hiple users.

We presently utilize unlicensed spectrurpriavide our Wi-Fi Internet solutions. Unlicensead'foee" spectrum is available to multiple userd amay suffer
bandwidth limitations, interference and slowdowirthé number of users exceeds traffic capacity. dalability of unlicensed spectrum is not unlieditand others ¢
not need to obtain permits or licenses to utilime same unlicensed spectrum that we currently agrimthe future, utilize. The inherent limitatioosunlicensed
spectrum could potentially threaten our abilityétiably deliver our services. Moreover, the premakof unlicensed spectrum creates low barrieesitty in our
industry.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be voltilvhich could result in substantial losses for estors.

Fluctuations in market price and volumeagicularly common among securities of technologmpanies. As a result, you may be unable toysell shares of
common stock at or above the price you paid. Theketgrice of our common stock may fluctuate siigaifitly in response to the following factors, amatigers,
many of which are beyond our control:

. general market condition
. domestic and international economic factors uneel&b our performanc
. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartenherating results
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. changes in or failure to meet publicly disclosedemtations as to our future financial performai

. changes in securities analysts' estimates of nanfiial performance or lack of research and refbyriadustry analyst:

. changes in market valuations or earnings of sincilanpanies

. announcements by us or our competitors of signifipaoducts, contracts, acquisitions, or stratpgitnerships

. developments or disputes concerning patents origtapy rights, including increases or decreasdiigation expenses associated with intellec

property lawsuits we may initiate, or in which wayrbe named as defendants;

. failure to complete significant sale
. any future sales of our common stock or other sgesirand
. additions or departures of key person

If securities or industry analysts publishisleading or unfavorable research about our buess, our stock price and trading volume could deeli

The trading market for our common stocketefs in part on the research and reports thatifeswor industry analysts publish about us orlmusiness. If one or
more of these analysts downgrades our stock oigh@d misleading or unfavorable research aboubesiness, our stock price would likely declineotie or more of
these analysts ceases coverage of our companitsoiofaublish reports on us regularly, demanddior stock could decrease, which could cause ook $tice or
trading volume to decline. Announcements by analifsit may have a significant impact on the mgpkiee of our common stock may relate to:

. our operating results or forecas

. new issuances of equity, debt or convertible dghid)

. developments in our relationships with corporat&tamers

. announcements by our customers or competi

. changes in regulatory policy or interpretati

. governmental investigation

. changes in the ratings of our stock by rating agsnar securities analys
. our acquisitions of complementary businesse

. our operational performanc

Insiders have substantial control over asd are able to influence corporate matters.

Our directors and executive officers aralrthffiliates are able to exercise significantuehce over all matters requiring stockholder apakdncluding the
election of directors and approval of significaotporate transactions, such as a merger or otleeosaur company or its assets. This concentratfanwnership
could limit your ability to influence corporate nexts and may have the effect of delaying or premgra third party from acquiring control over us.

21




Table of Content

As a public company, we are subject taafigial and other reporting and corporate governanaguirements that may be difficult for us to sdtysand may
divert resources and management attention from agiérg our business.

We are required to file annual, quarterig ather reports with the SEC. We must preparetiamely file financial statements that comply witkS reporting
requirements. We are also subject to other reppéird corporate governance requirements, unddistimg standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market, or NAQ,
which imposes significant compliance obligationsmipis. We are required, among other things, to:

. prepare and file periodic reports, and distributeenstockholder communications, in compliance \hithfederal securities laws and NASDAQ ru
and
. evaluate and maintain our system of internal cdwiver financial reporting, and report on managetsexssessment thereof, in compliance with r

and regulations of the SEC and the Public CompargoAnting Oversight Board.
If we need additional capital in the futar it may not be available on favorable terms, oad.

We have historically relied on outside fineng and cash flow from operations to fund ourrapens, capital expenditures and expansion. Howeve may
require additional capital from equity or debt ficang in the future to fund our operations, or mypto competitive pressures or strategic oppdigsmiWe may not
be able to secure timely additional financing orofable terms, or at all. The terms of additiom@dfcing may place limits on our financial and @ierg flexibility. If
we raise additional funds through further issuarafesjuity, convertible debt securities or othensities convertible into equity, our existing dtbholders could suffe
significant dilution in their percentage ownersbffpur company, and any new securities we issugdmve rights, preferences and privileges sewithdse of
holders of our common stock. If we are unable t@iobadequate financing or financing on terms &attery to us, if and when we require it, our apito grow or
support our business and to respond to businedismypas could be significantly limited.

We could be the subject of securities classon litigation due to future stock price voldity, which could divert management's attention ardversely affect
our results of operations.

The stock market in general and marketggsrior the securities of technology companiesdikes in particular, have from time to time expecieth volatility that
often has been unrelated to the operating perfoaemahthe underlying companies. A certain degregtadk price volatility can be attributed to beagewly public
company. These broad market and industry fluctnationay adversely affect the market price of ourroom stock, regardless of our operating performaimcgeveral
recent situations where the market price of a stackbeen volatile, holders of that stock havatirietl securities class action litigation agaihst tompany that issu
the stock. If any of our stockholders were to brngwsuit against us, the defense and disposifitime lawsuit could be costly and divert the tiamel attention of our
management and harm our operating results.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter doments and Delaware law could discourage, delayp@vent a change in control of our company and ynaffect
the trading price of our common stock.

We are a Delaware corporation and thetak#over provisions of the Delaware General Comid_aw may discourage, delay, or prevent a chamgentrol by
prohibiting us from engaging in a business comipmatvith an interested stockholder for a periodhoée years after the person becomes an interststekholder,
even if a change of control would be beneficiabtio existing stockholders. In addition, our amended restated certificate of incorporation and atedrand restated
bylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent a chamgeli management or control over us that
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stockholders may consider favorable. For exampleamended and restated certificate of incorpamadind amended and restated bylaws:

. authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefertedksthat could be issued by our board of directothwart a takeover attem

D establish a classified board of directors, as altres which the successors to the directors whesas have expired will be elected to serve froe
time of election and qualification until the thiadinual meeting following their election;

. require that directors only be removed from officecause and only upon a majority stockholder y

. provide that vacancies on the board of directoiduding newl-created directorships, may be filled only by a migjosote of directors then in office

. limit who may call special meetings of stockholdt

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent réig requiring all actions to be taken at a meetifithe stockholders; ar

. Leclwire supermajority stockholder voting to effeettain amendments to our amended and restatéficagetof incorporation and amended and rest
ylaws.

We have incurred substantial losses in ffest and may incur additional losses in the future.

As of December 31, 2012, our accumulatdititeas $34.5 million. Although we have generated income for each fiscal year since 2009, whiak our first
full year of net income since our inception, we als® currently investing in our future growth thgh expanding our network, investing in our sofeyand
consideration of future business acquisitions. Assalt, we will incur higher depreciation and atbperating expenses, as well as potential actprsipsts, that may
negatively impact our ability to sustain profitatyilin future periods unless and until these groeffiorts generate enough revenue to exceed thematipg costs and
cover our additional overhead needed to scale wsinbss for this anticipated growth. The curreabgl financial condition may also impact our apitiv sustain
profitability if we cannot generate sufficient renee to offset the increased costs. In additiontscassociated with the acquisition and integradibany acquired
companies may also negatively impact our abilitgustain profitability. Finally, given the compaté and evolving nature of the industry in which egerate, we me
not be able to sustain or increase profitability.

We do not intend to pay dividends on oungoon stock and, consequently, your ability to ackeea return on your investment will depend on apgegion in
the price of our common stock.

We do not intend to declare and pay divitseon our capital stock for the foreseeable futfe.currently intend to invest our future earnirigany, to fund our
growth. Therefore, you are not likely to receive dividends on your common stock for the foreses&liure and the success of an investment in slofi@s
common stock will depend upon any future appremiaith their value.
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Certain of our stockholders may have clai@as a result of an unauthorized e-mail sent byemployee of one of the underwriters in our IPO thaiay have
constituted a prospectus that does not meet thesregments of the Securities Act of 1933.

Prior to the effectiveness of the regigrastatement on Form S-1, an employee of DeutBelm& Securities Inc., one of the underwriters iniaitial public
offering, or IPO, distributed an unauthorized edma&ssage containing evaluation material and ptiojes to approximately 200 potential institutiomatestors. The
unauthorized e-mail message did not contain theired)legends and a link to our prospectus in oralenake the email a conforming underwriter freéing
prospectus. Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. hasnrddrus that all of the recipients of the e-mailédhbgen notified that it was distributed in errod ahould be
disregarded. Subsequently, Deutsche Bank Securittese-sent the information contained in the etiaethe same distribution list with the requitedends and links
to our prospectus and our free writing prospectuzrder to make the e-mail a conforming underwfitege writing prospectus.

Neither we nor any of the other underwsitierour IPO were involved in any way in the pregian or distribution of the information containgecdthe e-mail, and
the information does not reflect our views, or tiews of the other underwriters, as to matters eskd in the e-mails. No person who received thaits should rely
upon them in any manner. We urge all potential $tmes to base their investment decisions solelgwrprospectus. If the e-mails did constitute dation of the
Securities Act of 1933, the recipients who purcdasg common stock in the IPO may have claims &nages resulting from their purchase. Any liabiiyuld
depend upon the number of shares purchased byemtsipf the e-mail. If any liability is assertede intend to contest the matter. In addition, DeluesBank
Securities Inc. has agreed to indemnify us, thilngettockholders and the other underwriters inlB@ for losses that we or they may incur as alrethe e-mails,
and therefore, we do not believe the distributibthe e-mails will have a material financial impact us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Iltem 2. Properties

We currently lease approximately 27,000asgdieet of space for our corporate headquartdresrmingeles, California under a lease agreemexttetkpires in
February 2018. We also lease an additional 13,§08re feet in aggregate office space in San Fremc@alifornia; Chicago, lllinois; Lake Successye€éork;
McKinney, Texas; Detroit, Michigan; and London, Udit€éingdom. We believe our current office facilitiedl be adequate for the foreseeable future.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not presently a party to any mdt&gal proceedings. From time to time, we may Ineednvolved in legal proceedings in the ordinaryrse of our
business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities.

Market Information.  Since May 4, 2011, our common stock has beelighutraded on the NASDAQ Global Market under tlyenbol "WIFI." The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, thghtand low prices of our common stock as reportethe NASDAQ Global Market.

2012
High Low
First quartel $ 1318 $ 7.9¢
Second quarte $ 12.1¢ $ 9.4<
Third quartel $ 11.6¢ $ 6.77
Fourth quarte $ 82 $ 6.77
2011
High Low

First quartel (@) @
Second quarte $ 13.1f $ 6.9¢

Third quartel $ 98¢ $ 6.71

Fourth quarte $ 94/ $ 6.01

(a)—There was no public market for our stock prior toyMa2011.

Registered Stockholders. As of March 11, 2013, there were approximatdlys®ckholders of record of our common stock. Stotders of record does not
include a substantially greater number of "stregh@" holders or beneficial holders of our commaelstvhose shares are held of record by banks, tsaiel other
financial institutions.

Dividends. We have never declared or paid cash dividendsuo common stock, and currently do not anticigetging cash dividends in the foreseeable fu
Any future determination to pay dividends on oumeaon stock, if permissible, will be at the disavetdf our board of directors and will depend upgmpng other
factors, our financial condition, operating resutisrrent and anticipated cash needs, plans faresipn and other factors that our board of dirscteay deem
relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Eaty Compensation Plans. The information required to be disclosed bynl201(d) of Regulation S-K regarding
our equity securities authorized for issuance underquity incentive plans is incorporated hetsimeference to the section entitled "Equity Congagion Plan
Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement fmur Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed witle Commission within 120 days after the end afdiyear
2012 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Reeds from Sale of Registered Securities.
We did not sell any equity securities registered under the Securities Act during the geadied December 31, 2012.

On May 3, 2011, our registration statemenForm S-1 was declared effective by the SEC forlBQ, pursuant to which we sold 3,846,800 shafesio
common stock at a public offering price of $13.80 ghare. We received net proceeds of approxim@ty7 million from this transaction, after undeiting
discounts, commissions and expenses. There hasbaeaterial change in the planned use of procedsour IPO as described in our final prospectiesl fwith the
SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b).
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. None.
Performance Measurement Comparison

The following performance graph shows titaltstockholder return of an investment of $100ash made on May 4, 2011 in each of (i) our comstock, (ii) a
broad equity market index, the securities compgisite Nasdaq Composite Index, and (iii) issuerk wiinilar market capitalizations, the securitiesipasing the
Russell 2000 index.

The performance graph assumes that $100nwveasted on May 4, 2011 in our common stock attbsing price of $12.10 and in each index, and alat
dividends were reinvested. No dividends have beetaded nor paid on our common stock. The compasigothe graph below are required by the SEC amdiat
intended to forecast or be indicative of possibterfe performance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 20 MONTHS CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Boingo Wireless, Inc., The NASDAQ Quusite Index and The Russell 2000 Ind&x
$120
§110
$100
$90

£80

%70

%60

$50
080111 0901 12/0111 030112 080112 0g/ot112 1210112

—a— NASDAC Composite Index —&— Russell 2000 Index —+— Boingo

05/04/11 06/30/11 09/30/11 12/31/11 03/30/12 06/29/12 09/28/12 12/31/12

NASDAQ Composite

Index $ 100.0( $ 98.07 $ 85.4C $ 92.11 $ 109.3: $ 103.7¢ $ 110.1¢ $ 106.7¢
Russell 2000 Inde $ 100.0C $ 99.3¢ $ 77.3¢ $ 88.9¢ $ 99.6¢ $ 9587 $ 100.5! $ 101.9¢
Boingo $ 100.0C $ 75.0¢ $ 59.0¢ $ 71.07 $ 100.0( $ 96.01 $ 6562 $ 62.4(
* The material in this section is not "soliciting m@&l" and is not deemed "filed" with the SEC sliniot tabe incorporated by reference into ¢

filing of Boingo Wireless, Inc. made under the S#@s Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange waether made before or after the date
hereof and irrespective of any general incorporamguage in any such filing, except to the extempecifically incorporate this section by
reference.

i We chose the Russell 2000 index because it is deetpof issuers with similar market capitalizationge do not believe that we can
reasonably identify a peer group of issuers ondnstry or lin-of-business inde»
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following selected consolidated finahdiata should be read in conjunction with "Manageta®iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord Results
of Operations" in Part Il, Item 7 and our accompagyConsolidated Financial Statements in Partéinl 8 of this report.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share amount:

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Revenue $ 102,50t $ 9455¢ $ 80,42( $ 65,71* $ 56,71
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 42,28¢ 37,08: 31,96: 26,43( 22,97¢
Network operation 14,54 15,84¢ 13,50¢ 11,66° 11,01(
Development and technolos 10,77: 9,43: 8,47¢ 7,37¢ 6,76:
Selling and marketin 10,25¢ 7,40¢ 5,98¢ 5,901 7,54¢
General and administrati\ 12,70( 11,95: 10,64 8,21¢ 7,94t
Amortization of intangible assets 1,10 1,65t 2,491 3,84¢ 5,972
Total costs and operating expenses 91,66( 83,38: 73,06t 63,43¢ 62,21¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 10,84¢ 11,17° 7,35¢ 2,281 (5,507)
Interest and other income (expense), 142 (17¢) (137) (154 20C
Income (loss) before income tay 10,98¢ 11,00: 7,21¢ 2,12 (5,307)
Income taxe: 2,96t 4,06 (8,907%) 98t 567
Net income (loss 8,02¢ 6,937 16,12: 1,142 (5,879
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 72¢ 642 547 394 332
Net income (loss) attributable to Boingo Wireldss, 7,295 6,29t 15,57« 74¢ (6,20¢)
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — (1,637 (5,020 (5,259 (5,25¢€)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhd  $ 7,298 $ 4,662 $ 1055 $ (4,51) $ (11,467

Net income (loss) per share attributable to com
stockholders

Basic $ 021 $ 0.1¢ $ 181 $ (0.7 $ (2.0)
Diluted $ 02C $ 017 $ 04¢ $ (079 $ (2.0)
Other Financial Data:
Operating cash flow $ 2459 $ 29,52¢ $ 24,16( $ 14,52. $ 10,92
Investing cash flow (62,46%) (7,335 (19,939 (3,659 (2,065)
Financing cash flow 2,077 46,01¢ (1,139 (974 (1,287)
Adjusted EBITDA(1) 30,64: 28,55¢ 18,22« 13,527 6,942
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As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 58,13t $ 93,93! $ 25720 § 22,62¢ $ 12,74
Marketable securitie 41,55¢ — 9,37: — 1,64
Working capital 80,64: 74,137 17,03: 4,517 1,442
Total asset 202,53. 188,92( 132,04 104,40: 100,85¢
Deferred revenu 41,45; 41,32¢ 38,97¢ 29,73¢ 27,35:
Total liabilities 58,03: 59,84: 60,05¢ 48,86( 46,83¢
Convertible preferred stoc — — 122,96¢ 117,94¢ 112,69(
Total stockholders' equity (defici 144,49¢ 129,07¢ (50,98%) (62,409 (58,669
(1) We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss)ilatitable to common stockholders plus depreciatimhamortization of property ar

equipment, accretion of convertible preferred staokome taxes, amortization of intangible asssts;k-based compensation expense, non-
controlling interests and interest and other incdexpense), net.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to invastand other users of our financial statemenévauating our operating performance
because it provides them with an additional toaldmpare business performance across companiexerss periods. We believe that:

. Adjusted EBITDA provides investors and otherras# our financial information consistency and gamability with our past financial
performance, facilitates period-to-period comparssof operations and facilitates comparisons witieocompanies, many of which
use similar non-generally accepted accounting jpies in the United States ("GAAP") financial measuto supplement their GAAP
results; and

. it is useful to exclude non-cash charges, suclta®ton of preferred stock, depreciation and aizatibn of property and equipment,
amortization of intangible assets and stock-basetpensation, from Adjusted EBITDA because the amhofiauch expenses in any
specific period may not directly correlate to thmelerlying performance of our business operationd,these expenses can vary
significantly between periods as a result of futiaatization of previously acquired tangible andaimgible assets or the timing of new
stock- based awards.

We use Adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with tradit@ GAAP measures as part of our overall assessofienir performance, for planning
purposes, including the preparation of our annpetating budget and quarterly forecasts, to evaltke effectiveness of our business
strategies and to communicate with our board @odars concerning our financial performance.

We do not place undue reliance on Adjusted EBITBAar only measure of operating performance. Adju&BITDA should not be
considered as a substitute for other measuresafidial performance reported in accordance with 8APhere are limitations to using non-
GAAP financial measures, including that other conigssmay calculate these measures differently weado.

We compensate for the inherent limitations assediatith using Adjusted EBITDA through disclosuretioése limitations, presentation of our
financial statements in accordance with GAAP amdmeiliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most directomparable GAAP measure, net
income (loss) attributable to common stockhold
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The following provides a reconciliationret income (loss) attributable to common stockhmslde Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhil $ 7298 $ 4,66z $ 1055 $ (4,51) $ (11,467

Depreciation and amortization of property and eogpt 15,95¢ 12,30: 7,511 6,65¢ 5,811
Income taxe: 2,96¢ 4,06¢ (8,907) 98t 567
Stocl-based compensation expel 2,73¢ 3,42:¢ 867 74C 66€
Amortization of intangible asse 1,10 1,65¢ 2,491 3,84¢ 5,972
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — 1,63: 5,02( 5,25¢ 5,25¢
Non-controlling interest: 72¢ 642 547 394 332
Interest and other (income) expense, (143) 17¢€ 137 154 (200)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 30,64: $ 28,55¢ $ 18,22: $ 13,527 $ 6,942

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION.

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should bad together with "Selected Consolidated FinanbDiala"
and our audited consolidated financial statememd accompanying notes included elsewhere in tinig fiThis discussion contains forwaloleking statements, bas
on current expectations and related to our plarstineates, beliefs and anticipated future finanp@tformance. These statements involve risks anertaicties and
our actual results may differ materially from thasgticipated in these forward-looking statements assult of many factors, including those settffamder "Risk
Factors," "Forwarc-Looking Statements" and elsewhere in this filing.

Overview

We believe we are the leading global prexiof commercial mobile Wi-Fi Internet solutionsuiGoftware applications and solutions enable iddizls to access
our extensive global Wi network of over 600,000 hotspots with deviceshsas smartphones, laptops and tablet computersof@uings provide compelling cost &
performance advantages to our customers and pgrtner

We grew revenue from $94.6 million in 2@1$102.5 million in 2012, an increase of 8.4%. yvew revenue from $80.4 million in 2010 to $94.8liom in
2011, an increase of 17.6%. Our net income atttidatto common stockholders increased from $4.lfomiin 2011 to $7.3 million in 2012. We grew Adjad
EBITDA from $28.6 million in 2011 to $30.6 millioim 2012, an increase of 7.3%. For a discussiondpfigted EBITDA and a reconciliation of net inconas§)
attributable to common stockholders to Adjusted HBA, see footnote 1 to "Selected Financial DataPait Il, Item 6.

Many online consumer and business activitiesh as streaming media, social networking, doadihg large email attachments and video callieguire high-
speed, high-bandwidth Internet access. In additfmproliferation of smartphones, laptops, tabtehputers and other Wi-Fi enabled devices hasdedsuto expect
access to the same content and information whitéhergo, with the same performance quality theyaa@istomed to in the home or office setting. Tlista
intensive activities are driving a global surgeriabile Internet data traffic that is expected tréase 13 times between 2012 and 2017, accordi@gto's Visual
Networking Index. We believe these trends presentith opportunities to generate significant growthevenue and profitability
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsanformity with GAAP and rules and regulations o United States Securities and Exchange Commi§s&C")
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets and liadslitas well as the disclosure of contingent assetdiabilities, at th
date of the financial statements. Such estimatdsaasumptions also affect the reported amountsvainues and expenses during the reporting perititowgh we
believe these estimates are reasonable, actudtsresuld differ from these estimates. On a reghé&sis, we evaluate our assumptions, judgmentestirdates. We
also discuss our critical accounting policies astigates with the Audit Committee of the Board @fetors.

We believe that the assumptions and estsragsociated with revenue recognition, busingsbioations, goodwill, measuring recoverability ofigdived assets
stock-based compensation and income taxes haygdhtest potential impact on our consolidated firs@rstatements. Therefore, we believe the accogmolicies
discussed below are paramount to understandinbistarical and future performance, as these paligiate to the more significant areas involving management's
judgments, assumptions and estime

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from several sourodsdimg: (i) retail customers under subscriptioand for month-tanonth network access that automatically renew
retail single-use access from sales of hourlyydailother single-use access plans, (ii) platfoenvise arrangements with wholesale customers tluaige software
licensing, network access, and professional ses\fises, (iii) wholesale customers that are teleoperators under long-term contracts for accessit®ésS at our
managed and operated locations, and (iv) displagrididements and sponsorships on our walled gasidenin pages. Software licensed by our wholeskitgsm
services customers can only be used during thedéthre service arrangements and has no utilithéon upon termination of the service arrangement.

Subscription fees from retail customerspaiel monthly in advance and revenue is deferrethiportions of monthly recurring subscriptioesecollected in
advance. We do not have a stated or publisheddgfalicy for our Wi-Fi service, although our custenservice representatives will provide a refuncaase-bycase
basis. These amounts are not significant and aceded as contra-revenue in the period the refarelsnade. Subscription fee revenue is recognizatlyeover the
subscription period. Revenue generated from reiagle-use access is recognized when earned.

Services provided to wholesale partnersupthtform service arrangements generally corgaweral elements including: (i) a term licensede aur software to
access our Wi-Fi network, (ii) access fees for mekwisage, and (iii) professional services forwaft integration and customization and to mairtfaén\Wi+i service
The term license, monthly minimum network access f&nd professional services are billed on a mpbiiis based upon predetermined fixed rates. @ecerm
license for integration and customization are dgtd, the fees from the arrangement are recognégedly over the remaining term of the platformvaes
arrangement. The initial term of platform servioehse agreements is generally between two toyfaes and the agreements generally contain rerdawades.
Revenue for network access fees in excess of timthfiyaminimum amounts is recognized when earnebeldments within existing platform service arramgats are
generally delivered and earned concurrently througthe term of the respective service arrangement.

Revenue generated from access to our DA&onies consists of build-out fees and recurringeasdfees under certain long-term contracts widtteh operators.
Build-out fees paid upfront are generally defermed recognized ratably over the term of the eséchatistomer relationship period, once the buildiabmplete.
Minimum monthly access fees for usage of the DAS/agts are non-cancellable and generally escalaBnamnual basis. These minimum monthly accessafees
recognized ratably over the term of the estimatesddarner relationship period. The initial term of ou
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contracts with telecom operations and wholesaltnpes generally range from three to fifteen yeasthe agreements generally contain renewal clal@g&nue
from network access fees in excess of the montiynmums is recognized when earned.

In instances where the minimum monthly reelnaccess fees escalate over the term of the sélelservice arrangement, an unbilled receivabiecisgnized
when performance is within our control and whenh&ee reasonable assurance that the unbilled rdxteilalance will be collected.

For multiple-deliverable arrangements esdento prior to January 1, 2011 that are accoufatednder Financial Accounting Standards BoardASB")
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 605-Rgevenue Recognition—Multiple- Deliverable Revenuangements we defer recognition of revenue for the full
arrangement and recognize all revenue ratably threewholesale service period for platform servicarrgements and the term of the estimated custmtaionship
period for DAS arrangements, as we did not havdesge of fair value for the undelivered elementh@arrangement. For multiple-deliverable arrangreshentered
into or materially modified after January 1, 20hattare accounted for under ASC 605-25, we evalub&ther or not separate units of accounting exidtthen
allocate the arrangement consideration to all wiitsccounting based on the relative selling pmeghod using estimated selling prices as vendarifépebjective
evidence and third-party evidence is not availa¥le.recognize the revenue associated with the atpanits of accounting upon completion of suchises or
ratably over the wholesale service period for platf service arrangements and the term of the etthwaustomer relationship period for DAS arrangesien

Advertising and other revenue is recognizben the services are performed.

Business Combinations

We allocate the total purchase price afisiiess combination to the assets acquired aréhtikties assumed based on their estimated fanes at the
acquisition date, with the excess purchase pricerded as goodwill. An income, market or cost vaduemethod may be utilized to estimate the falugaof the asse
acquired or liabilities assumed in a business coatlin. The income valuation method representpttesent value of future cash flows over the liféhef asset using
(i) discrete financial forecasts, which rely on mgement's estimates of revenue and operating eeqg(ii¥ long-term growth rates and (iii) an apprage discount
rate. The market valuation method uses pricesfpaid reasonably similar asset by other purchaeetse market, with adjustments relating to anyedénces between
the assets. The cost valuation method is baseldeoreplacement cost of a comparable asset at @itke time of the acquisition reduced for de@on of the asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purclpaise over fair value of net assets acquired. Galbanot amortized but instead is tested annutdtyimpairment, or
more frequently when events or changes in circumsstsindicate that fair value of the reporting @i been reduced to less than its carrying vileeperform our
impairment test annually on Decembers81in September 2011, the FASB issued revised gaalemsimplify how entities test goodwill for impaient. Under the
revised guidance, entities have the option to fisstess qualitative factors to determine whethgmitore likely than not that the fair value ofeporting unit is less
than its carrying amount as a basis for determimihgther it is necessary to perform the two-stegdgall impairment test described in ASC 3%8tangibles—
Goodwill and Other If, after assessing qualitative factors, an gmtétermines it is not more likely than not that fhir value of a reporting unit is less than asrging
amount, then performing the two-step impairmerttiteennecessary. If deemed necessary, a two-as¢stused to identify the potential impairmerd emmeasure
the amount of goodwill impairment, if any. The firs
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step is to compare the fair value of the reporting with its carrying amount, including goodwilt.the fair value of the reporting unit exceedscigsrying amount,
goodwill is considered not impaired; otherwise réhis an indication that goodwill maybe impaired éime amount of the loss, if any, is measured bfopaing step
two. Under step two, the impairment loss, if asymieasured by comparing the implied fair valuehefreporting unit goodwill with the carrying amowfitgoodwill.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we testedjoodwill for impairment and no impairment wasritiied as the fair value of our sole reportingtumas
substantially in excess of its carrying amountdate, we have not recorded any goodwill impairnoérarges.

Measuring Recoverability of Lorigved Assets

We perform an impairment review of longelivassets held and used whenever events or charmgesimstances indicate that the carrying valag mot be
recoverable. Factors we consider important thaldcigger an impairment review include, but are lmited to, significant under-performance relatito projected
future operating results, significant changes erttanner of our use of the acquired assets onaralh business and/or product strategies andfggnt industry or
economic trends. When we determine that the cagryatue of a long-lived asset may not be recoverbbked upon the existence of one or more of thdgmtors,
we determine the recoverability by comparing theyiag amount of the asset to net future undiscedimiash flows that the asset is expected to generatther
indices of fair value. We would then recognize mpairment charge equal to the amount by which #neyimg amount exceeds the fair market value obset. To
date, we have not recorded any long-lived assedimmgnt charges.

Stockbased Compensation

Stock-based compensation consists of giptikns granted to employees and non-employeesrdtorded as compensation expense based onathiedaite fair
value of awards using the Black-Scholes optionipgienodel. We recognize stock-based compensatiparese related to employee stock option and restristock
grants, which requires us to recognize compensatipense equal to the grant date fair value oragght-line basis, net of estimated and actuakfasfes, over the
employee requisite service period.

Prior to our IPO, in 2011 and 2010, we tgdroptions to purchase shares of our common sBetause there was no public market for our comstock prior tc
our IPO, determining the fair value of our commuwtk required making complex and subjective judgimend there was inherent uncertainty in our eséroifair
value. Prior to our IPO, our general policy wagtant employee options at exercise prices equaktdair value of the underlying common stock attime of grant,
as determined by us and our Board of Directorsddtermine the fair value of our common stock, westdered many factors, including:

. our current and historical financial performar

. our expected future financial performance;

. our financial condition at the grant da

. the liquidation rights and other preferences of mneferred stock

. input from managemer

. the lack of marketability of our common sto

. the anticipation or likelihood of a potential liglity event such as a sale of the business or
. the condition of and outlook for our indust
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. the business risks inherent in our busin
. the market performance of comparable pub-traded companies; ai
. the United States and global capital market comwakti

To determine the estimated fair value afeammon stock at each grant date, we conductedliadic in-depth valuation analysis of our commuotk prepared
with the assistance of an independent valuation &éind also considered the factors noted abovev&@uation analysis followed the guidance set féwttthe Americau
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, or AICPRechnical Practice Aid, "Valuation of Privateleld-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compemsatio
referred to herein as the AICPA Practice Aid. Basedhe guidance of the AICPA Practice Aid, weizgitl a combination of valuation methods includingrecome
approach using an analysis of expected future diged cash flows and a market approach for sirndampanies with publicly-traded ownership interéstarket
comparable method). We then weighted these twaatials to calculate an expected business enteryalse which was applied to our capital structordétermine a
value per common share.

The expected future discounted cash flavedyasis identifies a level of annual cash flowsddimite number of years and a residual valudéaend of the
projection period. A discount rate which reflecésimates of investor- required rates of returnsiarilar investments is used to calculate the preggine. The market
comparable method uses valuation multiples of coaipa companies which are applied to our operatiatistics to arrive at a value. These two busieessrprise
values are then equally weighted to determinedta valuation.

To estimate the value of common sharesjseel a dynamic option model to value the variomspmnents of our capital structure. These comporiediisded
common shares, liquidation rights and preferentesiopreferred stock, warrants and options on comshares. The total value of these securitiesdivéded by the
number of fully converted shares to provide amestied value of common shares on a marketable,atlimgrinterest. A discount for lack of control atetk of
marketability was then applied to yield the valee ppmmon share.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided based on théitialnethod, which results in income tax assetd kabilities arising from temporary differencesriporary
differences are differences between the tax bdsissets and liabilities and their reported amoimtke financial statements that will result indale or deductible
amounts in future years. The liability method regsithe effect of tax rate changes on current aodraulated deferred income taxes to be reflectédameriod in
which the rate change was enacted. The liabilitthoealso requires that deferred tax assets beeedwy a valuation allowance unless it is mordyilklean not that
the assets will be realized.

We may recognize the tax benefit from utaertax positions only if it is at least more lk¢han not that the tax position will be sustairedexamination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical mefit®position. The tax benefits recognized infthancial statements from such a position shouldneasured based
on the largest benefit that has a greater thanl8@%hood of being realized upon settlement witle taxing authorities. Upon our adoption of thatesd standard,
there was no liability for uncertain tax positiahge to the fact that there were no material idextifax benefits that were considered uncertaiitipos.

We establish valuation allowances when s&meg to reduce deferred tax assets to the amexpéxted to be realized. We evaluate the neea@rfiorthe adequacy
of, valuation allowances based on the expecteizedimin of our deferred tax assets. The factorsl tis@ssess the likelihood of realization includgdrical earnings,
our latest forecast of taxable income and availtbiglanning strategies that could be implemerdeealize the net deferred tax assets.
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Our effective tax rates are primarily afégtby the amount of our taxable income or losséke various taxing jurisdictions in which we ogter, the amount of
federal and state net operating losses and taksréte extent to which we can utilize these mdrating loss carryforwards and tax credits anthsebenefits related
to stock option activity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accountingnmancements is contained in Note 2 "Significantdotting Policies" to the accompanying Consolidd&tgtincial
Statements included in Part Il, Item 8, which isorporated herein by this reference.

Key Business Metrics
In addition to monitoring traditional fineial measures, we also monitor our operating perémice using the following key performance indicstor

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, excep
churn data)
Subscriber: 284 257 20C
Monthly churn 9.7% 9.2% 9.2%
Connects 24,49 12,31« 9,30¢

Subscribers. This metric represents the number of payingilretistomers who are on a month-to-month subserigtlan at a given period end.

Monthly churn. This metric shows the number of subscribers vdreled their subscriptions in a given monthresged as a percentage of the average
subscribers in that month. The churn in a giveioges the average monthly churn in that periodsTheasure is one indicator of the longevity of swinscribers.
Some of our customers who cancel subscriptionstaiaiaccounts for single-use access.

Connects. This metric shows how often individuals conntecbur global Wi-Fi network in a given period. Tb@nnects include retail and wholesale customers
in both customer pay locations and customer freations where we are a paid service provider aivecsponsorship or promotion fees. We count eaohect as a
single connect regardless of how many times thdividual accesses the network at a given venuenguhieir 24 hour period. This measure is an indicat paid
activity throughout our network.

Key Components of our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists of retail revenue,legade revenue, and advertising and other revenue.

Retail subscription. We generate revenue from sales to individuliteanth-to-month network access subscriptions @luédmatically renew, primarily through
charge card transactions.

Retail single-use. We generate revenue from sales of hourly, dailyther single-use access to individuals primdhitough charge card transactions.

Wholesale. We generate revenue from wholesale partnetditease our software and pay usage-based monétlyork access fees to allow their customers to
access our global Wi-Fi network, and telecom openaartners that pay us build-out fees and acesssfbr our DAS networks. Usage-
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based network access fees may be measured in sjicotenects or megabytes, and in most cases geestdomonthly minimums. Other wholesale partrgag us
monthly fees to provide a Wi-Fi infrastructure that install, manage and operate at their venueth&r customers under a service provider arrangeme

Advertising and other. We generate revenue from advertisers that ®eedach visitors to our landing pages at our madamnd operated network locations with
online advertising, promotional and sponsored @ogrand at locations where we solely provide aitbdraccess to a partner's Wi-Fi network througinspred
access and promotional programs. In addition, weive revenue from kiosk users and partners iraicevenues where we manage and operate the Witkorie

Costs and Operating Expenses

We classify our costs and operating expeasanetwork access, network operations, develdapameintechnology, selling and marketing, generdl an
administrative, and amortization of intangible @assHetwork access costs consist primarily of pays& venues and network partners in our netwOtker costs ar
operating expenses primarily consist of personosis; costs for contracted labor and developmestketing, legal, accounting and consulting serviaes other
professional service fees. Personnel costs inclatigies, bonuses, stock-based compensation arldyereenefits. Facilities costs and depreciatipeases are
generally allocated based on headcount. Depreniatipenses associated with specifically identifassets are allocated to the appropriate expetesgocies.

Network access. Network access costs consist of revenue stemagnts to venue owners where our managed andtegédratspots are located, usage-based
fees to our roaming network partners for acceskein networks, depreciation of equipment relatedatwork build-out projects in our managed and-aigel
locations, and bandwidth and other Internet convigcexpenses in our managed and operated location

Network operations. Network operations expenses consist of costsifocustomer service department and for our djperistaff that designs, builds, monitors
and maintains the network. Also included are expeffgr our customer service provider that handlssoener care inquiries and expenses for networkatipas
contractors, equipment depreciation and softwadeh@ndware maintenance fees.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses consiisif for our product development and engineeragdments, developers and
our information systems services staff, equipmeprreciation and software and hardware maintenaes f

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist of dostsur business development and marketing emplogad executives, travel and
entertainment and marketing programs.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consisbgtk for our executive, finance and accountirgglland human resources
personnel, as well as, legal, accounting, tax dnhergrofessional service fees. Also included @nerocorporate expenses such as charge card pragésss and bad
debt expense.

Amortization of intangible assets.Amortization of intangible assets consists iy of acquired network contracts.
Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest and other income (expense), mehguily consist of interest income and expense.
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Income Taxes

As a result of the utilization of our fedkenet operating loss carryforwards, our incomesarclude only state income taxes and federaiatiee minimum
taxes. In 2011 and 2010, income taxes also inckide million and $12.3 million of tax benefits asided with the release of a portion of our staie federal
valuation allowances, respectively.

Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests are comprisednifiority holdings by third parties in our subsidégr Concourse Communications Detroit, LLC, or CC&rbit, and
Chicago Concourse Development Group, LLC, or CCDG.

We attributed profits and losses to the-oontrolling interest in CCG Detroit under the terof the limited liability company agreement. CC@tiit has
generated losses over the last several years Wwhiheduced the non-controlling owners capital aetto zero in 2009 resulting in an allocationhie tontrolling
interest holder of all operating losses and deaficieated by fixed distributions of approximately2$,000 to the non-controlling interest holder.

We are required to pay a portion of alledatet profits less capital expenditures of theguléeng year to the nocentrolling interest holders of CCDG. The limi
liability company agreement for CCDG does not haverm. CCDG can be dissolved upon the unanimoeeagnt of the members, upon the sale of CCDG, upon
declaration of bankruptcy, or upon the terminatibthe license agreement between CCDG and theo€iBhicago.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our reswfperations for the specified periods.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz
Revenue $ 102,50¢ $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42(
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 42,28¢ 37,08: 31,96:
Network operation 14,54 15,84¢ 13,50¢
Development and technolos 10,77: 9,43: 8,47¢
Selling and marketin 10,25¢ 7,40¢ 5,98t
General and administrati\ 12,70¢( 11,95: 10,64¢
Amortization of intangible asse 1,102 1,65¢ 2,491
Total costs and operating expen 91,66( 83,38: 73,06
Income from operatior 10,84¢ 11,17% 7,35¢
Interest and other income (expense), 14z (17¢€) (137)
Income before income tax 10,98¢ 11,00: 7,21¢
Income taxe: 2,96t 4,06¢ (8,909
Net income 8,02¢ 6,937 16,12:
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 72¢ 64z 547
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, It 7,295 6,29t 15,57«
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — (1,637 (5,020
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 7,29t $ 4,662z $ 10,55¢
Depreciation and amortization expense included inhe above line items
Network acces $ 1194¢ $ 8867 $ 4,392
Network operation 2,84¢ 2,44¢ 1,747
Development and technolos 1,04¢ 873 1,02¢
General and administrati\ 117 117 34¢
Total $ 1595¢ $ 12,30 $ 7,511
Stock-based compensation expense included in the abovedlitems:
Network operation $ 352 $ 46 $ 131
Development and technolos 352 577 11F
Selling and marketin 571 65C 171
General and administrati\ 1,46( 1,732 45C
Total $ 2,73t $ 342 $ 867

Depreciation and amortization expen:

Depreciation expense increased $3.7 mjlibor29.7%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, dued@ases of $1.8 million from DAS build-out project&.3 million
from a one-time DAS build-out project and $0.6 rill of depreciation expense from operations.

Depreciation expense increased $4.8 mjlibor63.7%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, due taigaificant investment in DAS build-out projectsring 2011.
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Stocl-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense decr&8sedillion, or 20.1%, in 2012, as compared toR2qxkimarily due to reversal of $1.1 million in skebased
compensation expense for unvested options helanpjoyees who left the Company in 2012.

Stock-based compensation expense incré&sédnillion, or 295%, in 2011, as compared to 2@k0narily due to options issued at $13.50 peresha
The following table sets forth our resufperations for the specified periods as a peaggnof our revenue for those periods.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(as a percentage o
revenue)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 41.: 39.2 39.¢
Network operation 14.2 16.¢ 16.¢
Development and technolos 10.4 10.C 10.t
Selling and marketin 10.C 7.8 7.8
General and administratiy 12.4 12.¢ 13.2
Amortization of intangible asse 11 1.€ 3.1
Total costs and operating expen 89.¢ 88.2 90.¢
Income from operatior 10.€ 11.¢ 9.1
Interest and other income (expense), 0.1 0.2 (0.2)
Income before income tax 10.7 11.¢ 8.6
Income taxe: 2.¢ 4.z (11
Net income 7.€ 7.8 20.C
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 0.7 0.7 0.7
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, It 7.1 6.€ 19.c
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — 1.7 (6.2)
Net income attributable to common stockholc 7% 4% 13.1%
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Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Revenue
Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 Change % Change
(in thousands, except churn data ant
percentages,
Revenue
Retail subscriptiol $ 32,71¢ $ 29,031 $ 3,68: 12.7
Retail singl-use 13,42¢ 16,05¢ (2,625 (16.9)
Wholesale 49,49t 43,70° 5,78¢ 13.2
Advertising and othe 6,86¢ 5,76¢ 1,102 19.1
Total revenue $ 102,50¢ $ 94,55¢ $ 7,94¢ 84
Key business metric:
Subscriber: 284 257 27 10.t
Monthly churn 9.7% 9.2% 0.5% 5.4
Connects 24,49( 12,31 12,17¢ 98.¢

Retail subscription. Retail subscription revenue increased $3.7anillor 12.7%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, d#e18.8% average increase in subscribers.
This increase in subscribers was partially offsealilecrease in our revenue per subscriber of &dftpromotional offers and the growing mix of lawgiced
smartphone and tablet subscriptions compared tmitedl subscriptions.

Retail single-use. Retail single-use revenue decreased $2.6 milto 16.4%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, duedt@% decrease in single-use connects and a
7.9% decrease in revenue per connect as more caistapted for our lower priced hourly single useeas plan. The decrease in singse-connects was due prima
to the transition of certain paid managed and dpdri®cations to a tiered or free pricing modeljrammease in new customers that opted for subgmniptaind increased
promotional sponsorships.

Wholesale. Wholesale revenue increased $5.8 million, 02%3 in 2012, as compared to 2011, due to a $@libmincrease from DAS builéut projects in oL
managed and operated locations offset by a decoé&&e5 million in partner usage-based fees addaease of $0.4 million from DAS access and ufeee

Advertising and other. Advertising and other revenue increased $1Itlomj or 19.1%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, pliarily to revenues earned by Clc
9 Wireless, Inc., which was acquired in August 2012
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Costs and Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage:

Costs and operating expens

Network acces $ 42,28¢ $ 37,08: $ 5,20 14.C
Network operation 14,54 15,84¢ (2,30¢) (8.9
Development and technolos 10,77: 9,43: 1,33¢ 14.2
Selling and marketin 10,25¢ 7,40¢ 2,84¢ 38.4
General and administrati\ 12,70( 11,95: 747 6.2
Amortization of intangible asse 1,10 1,65t (552) (33.9

Total costs and operating expen $ 91,66( $ 83,38. $§ 8,27¢ 9.9

Network access. Network access costs increased $5.2 milliod,400%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, due primgoilpcreases of $4.2 million in DAS build-
out projects, $1.3 million in a one-time DAS buddt project, $1.3 million in revenue share paige¢aues in our managed and operated locations aichéilion
increase in the direct costs related to the saézjoipment for venue build-outs. The increases wartally offset by a decrease of $2.3 millionfreustomer usage at
partner venues.

Network operations. Network operations expenses decreased $1.@mitr 8.3%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, dwletweases of $1.4 million in personnel
related expenses $0.3 million in consulting expgn$@.3 million in hardware and software mainteragxpenses, and $0.3 million in other expensesd&heeases
were partially offset by increases of $0.5 milliarinternet connectivity expenses, $0.4 milliordiepreciation expense and $0.1 million in brealefipenses.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses increak&ddillion, or 14.2%, in 2012, as compared to 2@ to increases of
$0.7 million in hardware and software maintenangeeases, $0.5 million in consulting expenses, $dlBon in recruiting expenses and $0.2 milliondapreciation
expense. These increases were partially offseebyedses in personnel expenses of $0.4 millionshe of a decrease of $0.2 million in stock-basmtipensation
expenses.

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased $Rli&mor 38.4%, in 2012, as compared to 2011, lumcreases of $1.4 million in
personnel related expenses, $1.1 million in proomati expenses, $0.2 million in consulting experses$0.2 million in travel and entertainment exgsns

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increa@&drillion, or 6.2% in 2012, as compared to 2@k to increases of $0.6 million
in professional fees, $0.4 million in franchisegsax$0.2 million in Board of Directors expenses $2® million in insurance expenses. These inceeasee partially
offset by decreases of $0.3 million in stock-basampensation expenses, $0.2 million in rent antlitfas and $0.2 million in other expenses.

Amortization of intangible assets.Amortization of intangible assets expense desgd $0.6 million, or 33.4%, in 2012, as compane2Dtl1, due to certain
acquired assets being fully amortized during 2@ht.future years, amortization expense is expecteg $1.2 million for 2013 and 2014, $1.1 millifmn 2015 and
2016, $1.0 million for 2017 and $5.0 million theftea.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest and other income (expense), neteased $0.3 million, in 2012, as compared to 20uElprimarily to the increase in interest income.
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Income Taxes

Income tax expense decreased $1.1 miltid0il2, as compared to 2011, primarily due to benfedbm disqualifying dispositions of incentiveosk options and
from adjustments realized upon filing our 2011 fatlexcome tax returns.

Our future effective tax rate depends amous factors, such as tax legislation and cretits the geographic compositions of our pre-taxrnmeo
Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests increased $0.1liom in 2012, as compared to 2011.
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
Revenue

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands, except churn data and percentage

Revenue
Retail subscriptiol $ 29,03: $ 23556. $ 5,47- 23.2
Retall singl-use 16,05« 17,46( (1,406 (8.2)
Wholesale 43,707 35,13 8,57¢ 24.L
Advertising and othe 5,76¢ 4,26t 1,49¢ 35.2
Total revenue $ 9455¢ $ 80,42( $ 14,13¢ 17.¢
Key business metric:
Subscriber: 257 20C 57 28.t
Monthly churn 9.2% 9.5% (0.9% 3.2
Connects 7,97¢ 7,762 21€ 2.8

Retail subscription. Retail subscription revenue increased $5.5anillor 23.2%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, dwe28.5% increase in subscribers. The
impact of the increase in subscribers was part@fiset by a decrease in our average monthly rex@eun subscriber of 5.7% from the growing mix aféo-priced
smartphone subscriptions compared to laptop syitEnTs.

Retail single-use. Retail single-use revenue decreased $1.4 mjlto8.1%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, due tblo4?6 decrease in single-use connects. The
decrease in single-use connects was due primarthetincrease in new customers that opted forcsigh®ns, increased usage from wholesale partmsiomers that
use our service on a wholesale basis rather thadhase single-use access, and from increased gorabsponsorships.

Wholesale. Wholesale revenue increased $8.6 million, o4%4 in 2011, as compared to 2010, due to $5.1amiffom new DAS build-out projects in our
managed and operated locations, $1.9 million freeneased usage-based fees, and $1.6 million froi® &&ess and usage fees.

Advertising and other. Advertising and other revenue increased $11bomj or 35.2%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, uecreases of $0.8 million in
promotional sponsorships and $0.7 million in aitgwoject revenue.
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Costs and Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentage

Costs and operating expens

Network acces $ 37,08 $ 31,96 $ 5,121 16.C
Network operation 15,84¢ 13,50¢ 2,341 17.2
Development and technolos 9,43: 8,47¢ 95¢ 11.c
Selling and marketin 7,40¢ 5,98t 1,42¢ 23.¢
General and administrati\ 11,95: 10,64 1,30¢ 12.:
Amortization of intangible asse 1,65t 2,491 (836€) (33.9)

Total costs and operating expen $ 83,38 $ 73,06f $ 10,31¢ 14.1

Network access. Network access costs increased $5.1 millior,600%, in 2011, as compared to 2010. The chariget®increases of $4.5 million from
equipment depreciation expense from DAS build-ogjgets, $3.0 million from revenue share paid toues in our managed and operated locations, afdchdilion
from bandwidth and other Internet connectivity exges. The increase was patrtially offset by a deeref$3.1 million from customer usage at partregrues.

Network operations. Network operations expenses increased $2.8milbr 17.3%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, dued®ases of $1.3 million in personnel
related expenses inclusive of $0.3 million in stbelsed compensation expenses, $0.7 million in eugrip depreciation expenses, $0.3 million in Intece@nectivity
expenses, and $0.1 million in travel and entertaimnexpenses. The increase was partially offset $9.1 million decrease in software maintenanceesgs.

Development and technology Development and technology expenses increak@ddillion, or 11.3%, in 2011, as compared to 2@l to increases of
$1.1 million in personnel related expenses inckigi7$0.5 million in stock-based compensation expenand $0.3 million in software maintenance eseenThe
increase was partially offset by decreases of 80l8n in consulting expenses and $0.1 millioreiquipment depreciation expense.

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased $illidmor 23.8%, in 2011, as compared to 2010, lumcreases of $1.3 million in
personnel related expenses inclusive of $0.5 milliostock-based compensation expenses, and $0idnnm brand marketing program expenses.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increas&drillion, or 12.3%, in 2011, as compared to 2Qii® to increases of
$1.6 million in personnel related expenses inckigi’$1.3 million in stock-based compensation expen$0.2 million in insurance expenses, $0.1onilih credit
card and bank fees and $0.1 million in bad debergps. The increase was partially offset by deeseafs$0.4 million in professional fees, $0.2 roifliin equipment
depreciation expenses and $0.1 million in consyiltées.

Amortization of other intangible assetsAmortization of other intangible assets expafsereased $0.8 million, or 33.6%, in 2011, as amegbto 2010, due to
certain acquired assets being fully amortized @dugioll.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest and other income (expense), ratained essentially unchanged in 2011, as compar2@{l0.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes increased $13.0 million in2Gds compared to 2010. This increase is primdrily to the release of the valuation allowance orfezeral deferred
tax assets in December 2010. In December 2011 @tol Based on current year income and our projextd future income, we concluded it was more jikakan not
that certain of our deferred tax assets would bBzable, resulting in $1.3 million and $12.3 nahi of tax benefits, respectively, from the releakthe valuation
allowance.

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests remained essdgtismchanged in 2011, as compared to 2010.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primatilptgh cash provided by operating activities amidyrpo our IPO, private placements of preferrediggsecurities an
common stock. Our primary sources of liquidity &©ecember 31, 2012 consisted of $58.1 millionadtcand cash equivalents and $41.6 milion of mablet
securities.

Our principal uses of liquidity have beerfund our operations, working capital requiremeo#pital expenditures and acquisitions. We exjiexdtthese
requirements will be our principal needs for ligtydver the near term. Our capital expenditure20t2 were $18.0 million, of which $14.4 million sveeimbursed
through revenue for DAS build-out projects from telecom operator customers.

We believe that our existing cash and eaghvalents, working capital and our cash flow froperations will be sufficient to fund our operatoplanned capital
expenditures and potential acquisitions for attld@snext 12 months. There can be no assurane&Mveo, that future industry-specific or other deyshents, general
economic trends, or other matters will not adveraéfiect our operations or our ability to meet éuture cash requirements. Our future capital rexoents will
depend on many factors including our rate of reeggnowth, the timing and size of our managed arataipd location expansion efforts, the timing axtért of
spending to support product development efforestithing of introductions of new solutions and emfements to existing solutions and the continuiagket
acceptance of our solutions. We may enter intoiattegpns of complementary businesses, applicat@rtechnologies which could require us to seektauidil equity
or debt financing. Additional funds may not be éalie on terms favorable to us, or at all.

The following table sets forth cash flowaléor the periods indicated therein:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 2459 $ 29,52¢ $ 24,16(
Net cash used in investing activiti (62,46%) (7,335 (19,939
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 2,07 46,01¢ (1,139
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis $ (35,79 $ 68,21: $ 3,09-

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
In 2012, we generated $24.6 million in c&iem operating activities, a decrease of $4.9iamilfrom 2011, which was primarily due to a $4.3lion increase in
accounts receivable and other assets, a $2.2 milBarease in deferred revenues, a $1.5 millioredse in accounts payable and accrued expenses®ind million
decrease in deferred taxes. These changes weet loff$1.8 million in
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excess tax benefits from stock-based compensati$®,2 million increase in non-cash charges forefgation, amortization and stock compensationand
$1.1 million increase in net income.

In 2011, we generated $29.5 million of ceeth from operating activities, an increase of $aillon from 2010, which was primarily due to a32 million
increase in deferred taxes, a $4.1 million decréasecounts receivable and other assets and ax@fi¢n increase in non-cash charges for depragiaamortization
and stock compensation. These changes were offse$8.2 million decrease in net income, a $6.8onildecrease in deferred revenues and a $2.5omitlecrease |
accounts payable and accrued expenses.

In 2010, we generated $24.2 million of ceeth from operating activities, an increase of $8ilBon from 2009, which was primarily due to a3Q million
increase in net income, a $6.9 million increasaeaferred revenue and a $2.8 million increase in@ais payable and accrued expenses. These chaagesfiset by
$10.7 million decrease in deferred taxes, a $4lfomiincrease in accounts receivable and otheztasmnd a $0.4 million decrease in reash charges for depreciati
amortization and compensation.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

In 2012, we used $62.5 million in investamgivities. Our investing activities in 2012 indkd net purchases of $41.6 million of marketabteisges,
$18.0 million of purchases of property and equipnpeimarily related to DAS build-out projects inromanaged and operated locations, net payment.2friilion
for acquired assets and $0.1 million of paymentpédents, trademarks and domain. These useslofxee partially offset by a $0.4 million decre@seestricted
cash.

In 2011, we used $7.3 million in investigivities. Investing activities consisted of puashs of $16.9 million of property and equipmentarily related to
DAS build-out projects in our managed and operé&iedtions, $0.2 million of payments related to asifions and $0.1 million of payments for patettademarks
and domain. These uses of cash were partiallytdffs&9.4 million in sales of marketable securitesd a $0.5 million decrease in restricted cash.

In 2010, we used $19.9 million in investagivities. Investing activities consisted of puases of $11.3 million of property and equipmeihprily related to
DAS build-outs in our managed and operated locati$8.4 million in purchases of marketable se@sgitind $0.2 million of payments related to acqoisit These
uses of cash were partially offset by the decreasestricted cash of $1.0 million.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

In 2012, we generated $2.0 million in finary activities. This was primarily due to $2.6 linih in proceeds from the exercise of stock optiand $0.4 million of
excess tax benefits from stock-based compensatitially offset by payments to non-controllingarests of $0.7 million and payments of capital dsast
$0.2 million.

In 2011, we generated $46.0 million in fingg activities, an increase of $47.2 million froime net use of cash in the 2010. Cash providdihbycing activities
was primarily due to the proceeds from our IPO.

In 2010, we used $1.1 million in financiactivities. Cash used in financing activities wasnarily due to payments for capital leases of $8ilfion and
payments to non-controlling interests of $0.4 ol
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Transactions with Related Parties

Under our Audit Committee charter, our Auglommittee is responsible for reviewing and apprgall related party transactions on a quartedsis In addition,
our Board of Directors determines annually whetrer related party relationships exist among theatiirs which would interfere with the judgmentrdividual
directors in carrying out his responsibilities &ector.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table sets forth our contradtobligations and commitments as of Decembe312:

Payments Due By Perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 2 -3 Years 4 -5 Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Venue revenue share minimums $ 4396 $ 6,31¢ $ 8874/ $ 7,366 $§ 21,40¢
Operating leases for office space 5,68¢ 1,09: 2,17¢ 2,221 19z
Capital leases for equipment and softwar: 17¢€ 42 84 52 —
Total $4982¢ $§ 7,451 $ 11,137 $ 9,63¢ $ 21,60:

1) Payments under exclusive long-term, non-cancellednigracts to provide wireless communications netveecess to venues such as airports.
Expense is recorded on a straight-line basis dwetarm of the lease.

2) Office space under non-cancellable operatiagés.

?3) Leased equipment, primarily for data communicatiod database software, under-cancellable capital lease
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet fimgnarrangements and we do not have any relatipastith unconsolidated entities or financial parshés, such as
entities often referred to as structured financsparcial purpose entities, which have been eskadifor the purpose of facilitating off-balance ett@rangements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the potential lossirag from adverse changes in the value of findriegiruments. The risk of loss is assessed basebeolikelihood of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows or éutarnings.

We have established guidelines relativila¢odiversification and maturities of investmemtsrtaintain safety and liquidity. These guidelines @viewed
periodically and may be modified depending on meckaditions. Although investments may be subjearedit risk, our investment policy specifies é¢reghality
standards for our investments and limits the amotintedit exposure from any single issue, issugyme of investment. At December 31, 2012, ourkaarisk
sensitive instruments consisted of marketable #ezsiavailable-for-sale, which are comprised @ty rated short-term corporate bonds.

Marketable securities available-for-salecameied at fair value and are intended for usa@eting our ongoing liquidity needs. Unrealizechgand losses on
available-for-sale securities, which are deemeukttemporary, are reported as a separate compohstiockholders' equity, net of tax. The cost dftdeecurities is
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretibdiscounts to
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maturity. The amortization, along with realizedrgaand losses is included in interest and othemngc(expense), net.
ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &ia

The information required by this Item islided in Part IV, Items 15(a)1 and (2) of this AahReport on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

The Company maintains a system of disclosontrols and procedures that are designed tad@ogasonable assurance that information requirée disclosed
in the reports that the Company files or submitdaurthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amermtdtle Exchange Act, is processed, recorded, suimed and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commission's rules and fofimsse disclosure controls and procedures inclumieng other
processes, controls and procedures designed toeethst information required to be disclosed inrdygorts that the Company files or submits underfkchange Act
is accumulated and communicated to managemenagding) our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finaddfficer (our principal executive officer and ipeipal
financial officer, respectively), as appropriateatiow for timely decisions regarding requiredcttisure.

The Company carried out an evaluation, uitftge supervision and with the participation of mgement, including our Chief Executive Officer &uief Financie
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design andrafien of our disclosure controls and proceduresfdecember 31, 2012 pursuant to Exchange Act RBdel5.
Based upon that evaluation, the Company's Chiefigkee Officer and Chief Financial Officer have carded that the Company's disclosure controls aadealures,
as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and Egd)1were effective as of the end of the periogeced by this Annual Report.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishimyraaintaining adequate internal control over foahreporting at the Company. Our internal contnedr financial
reporting is a process designed under the supemvidiour Chief Executive Officer and Chief FinaaldDfficer to provide reasonable assurance regagritfia reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of thenpany's financial statements for external repgrtinrposes in accordance with GAAP. A companyé&riral control
over financial reporting includes those policied pnocedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inorasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trensactions and dispositions of the assets of tinep@oy
. provide reasonable assurance that transactione@eled as necessary to permit preparation ofifiabstatements in accordance with GAAP, and
receipts and expenditures of the company are beade only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and the directors of the company; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of the Company's assets that ¢
have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, introontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Also, projections of @rgluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject taiiethat controls may become inadequate becauskasiges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the partitign of management, including the certifying offis, the Company conducted an evaluation of tlecfeness of the
Company's internal control over financial reportaggof December 31, 2012 based on the framewdrkemnal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission (COSO). Management's assessment @tthmevaluation of the design of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting and tagtof the operational effectiveness of its intec@itrol over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, management deterthat, as of December 31, 2012, the Compangtaiaed effective internal control over financieporting. The
registered public accounting firm that audited¢basolidated financial statements included in frisual Report has also issued an audit report efCttmpany's
internal control over financial reporting. The Repaf Independent Registered Public Accounting Fsrfiled with this Annual Report on Form 10-K irsaparate
section following Part IV, as shown on the indexl@nitem 15 of this Annual Report.

Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weakres

Management previously reported a materiakmess in our internal control over financial remay with respect to controls that provide reasdaalssurance that
the accounting for income taxes and related discésswere prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The Company made the following changesstimternal control over financial reporting to rediate the previously reported material weakness:

. The Company I-evaluated the design of income tax accounting msEsand controls and implemented new and improrasses and contro
accordingly;
. The Company retained an experienced professiogabliating firm to assist with the income tax proersiend to provide a detailed review of the

implications of complex transactions; and

. The Company hired additional personnel with taxvidedlge and experience to provide a detailed asssgshthe calculation and supporting detail:
the accounts, to strengthen the internal reviewgs® and to assist in the implementation and mamageof improved processes and controls.

The Company has completed the documentatidrtesting of the corrective actions describexvaland, as of December 31, 2012, has concludéththa
remediation activities discussed are sufficierdaltow us to conclude that the previously disclosederial weakness related to the accounting fametaxes and
related disclosures no longer exists as of Dece@be2012.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in the Compatgtsal control over financial reporting (as defil by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(@} have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenlly affect, the Company's internal control ofieancial reporting during the quarter ended Delser 31, 2012.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART llI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance.

The information required by Item 10 will imeluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the captions "Board of Directors and Coafeo
Governance," "Executive Officers" and "Section )J@aneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance," tofited with the Commission within 120 days aftee #nd of
fiscal year 2012 pursuant to Regulation 14A, whidbrmation is incorporated herein by this refernc

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

The Company maintains employee benefitgplard programs in which its executive officerspasicipants. Copies of certain of these plans@odrams are set
forth or incorporated by reference as Exhibitshie teport. Information required by Item 11 will imeluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the
captions "Compensation of Executive Officers anckEltors," "Compensation Discussion and AnalysiBgport of the Compensation and Management Succession
Committee" and "Board of Directors and Corporate&nance," to be filed with the Commission withR0Dldays after the end of fiscal year 2012 purst@ant
Regulation 14A, which information is incorporategtdin by this reference.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficihROwners and Management and Related Stockholder M&trs

The information required by Item 12 will imeluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the caption "Beneficial Ownership of thenany's
Securities," to be filed with the Commission withi0 days after the end of fiscal year 2012 pursteaRegulation 14A, which information is incorptad herein by
this reference.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 13 of Fot@K regarding transactions with related perspnsmoters and certain control persons, if any, beéllincluded in
the Company's definitive Proxy Statement undercctmion "Certain Relationships and Related Trams@st to be filed with the Commission within 120ydaafter the
end of fiscal year 2012 pursuant to Regulation 2ich information is incorporated herein by theéerence. The information required by Item 13 offrd0-K
regarding director independence will be includethen Company's definitive Proxy Statement undectyion "Information Regarding the Board of Dimstand its
Committees—Independence of the Board of Directdoste filed with the Commission within 120 daygeathe end of fiscal year 2012 pursuant to Reguiat4A,
which information is incorporated herein by thiference.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by Item 14 will imeluded in the Company's definitive Proxy Statamender the caption "Independent Registered Pémiaounting
Firm Fees" and "Pre-Approval Policies and Procesfu@be filed with the Commission within 120 dafter the end of fiscal year 2012 pursuant to Retgan 14A,
which information is incorporated herein by thiference.
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PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits
(@) The following documents are filedpast of, or incorporated by reference into, thisvAal Report on Form 10-K:

(1)(2) Financial Statement3.he following consolidated financial statement8ofngo Wireless, Inc., and Report of Independergi®ered Public
Accounting Firm are included in a separate sedafthis Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on@&gl. The Exhibits begin on page F-37.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rkgistrant has duly caused this report to beesigm its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, ori&te day of March 2013.

BOINGO WIRELESS, INC.

By: /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the SeesrExchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidgrelow by the following persons on behalf of tbgistrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ DAVID HAGAN Director and Chief Executive Offic

(Principal Executive Officer)

March 18, 201!
David Hagar

/s/ PETER HOVENIER Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

March 18, 2013

Peter Hovenie Officer)
/s/ SKY DAYTON
Chairman of the Board March 18, 2013
Sky Dayton
/sl CHARLES BOESENBERG
Director March 18, 2013
Charles Boesenbe
/s/ CHUCK DAVIS
Director March 18, 2013
Chuck Davis
/sl MARC GELLER
Director March 18, 2013
Marc Geller
/sl PAUL HSIAO
Director March 18, 2013

Paul Hsiac
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Boilgireless, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consobdabalance sheets and the related consolidatedr&tats of operations, of convertible preferredistotd
stockholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flowegent fairly, in all material respects, the finahgosition of Boingo Wireless, Inc. and its sulsigs at December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the results of their operatmistheir cash flows for each of the three yeathérnperiod ended December 31, 2012 in conformitly accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. Also in our opinion, the Company maingal, in all material respects, effective intercahtrol over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, basedriteria established internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Cbmpany's management is responsible for theaedial statements, for maintaining effective in&trn
control over financial reporting and for its assesst of the effectiveness of internal control oeancial reporting, included in the Management'sdteon Internal
Control over Financial Reporting appearing undemi©A. Our responsibility is to express opiniongdfwse financial statements and on the Compartg®sal control
over financial reporting based on our audits (whicts an integrated audit in 2012). We conductedaadits in accordance with the standards of thdi¢Glompany
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdasedards require that we plan and perform the salibbtain reasonable assurance about whethénémeial
statements are free of material misstatement amdheheffective internal control over financial ogfing was maintained in all material respects. @udits of the
financial statements included examining, on aliasts, evidence supporting the amounts and digelesn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles
used and significant estimates made by managemrahgvaluating the overall financial statementgméstion. Our audit of internal control over finaiceporting
included obtaining an understanding of internaltagrover financial reporting, assessing the risktta material weakness exists, and testing arldatiray the design
and operating effectiveness of internal controkldaen the assessed risk. Our audits also inclueddrming such other procedures as we consideregssary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits providsaaonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over finanaiborting is a process designed to provide redderesurance regarding the reliability of finahoéporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. A company's internal control ofieancial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(thpertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refteettransactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (iiyjghe reasonable assurance that transactions anelegtas necessary to permit preparation of fidstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of tihepemy are being made only in accordance with aizthimons of
management and directors of the company; andf(iiiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,use
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, in&roontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Also, projections of ersluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject tailethat controls may become inadequate becauskeasfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 18, 2013
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31 December 31
2012 2011
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 58,13¢ $ 93,93¢
Restricted cas 3C 46E
Marketable securitie 41 ,55¢ —
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $179%id7 in 2012 and 201
respectively 10,977 7,38z
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,07z 1,102
Deferred tax asse 1,20¢ 2,36¢
Total current asse 113,97¢ 105,24¢
Property and equipment, r 42,41 39,717
Goodwill 26,74¢ 25,51:
Intangible assets, n 10,59 9,84¢
Deferred tax asse 4,25¢ 4,082
Other asset 4,54¢ 4,51¢
Total asset $ 202,53 $ 188,92(
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 499 $ 4,57¢
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 10,977 12,75¢
Deferred revenu 17,32¢ 13,57
Current portion of capital leas 42 20t
Total current liabilities 33,33¢ 31,11:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 24,12 27,75¢
Long-term portion of capital least 13¢€ 197
Other liabilities 43€ 77¢
Total liabilities 58,03 59,84
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000 shartb®razed, no shares issued ¢
outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000 sharémaeed, 35,483 and 33,5:
shares issued and outstanding for 2012 and 204fdecgvely 4 3
Additional paic-in capital 178,21¢ 170,72:
Accumulated defici (34,54°) (41,847
Total common stockholders' equ 143,67¢ 128,88:
Non-controlling interest: 82¢ 197
Total stockholders' equit 144,49¢ 129,07¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 202,53: $ 188,92(

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Revenue $ 102,50¢ $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42(
Costs and operating expens
Network acces 42,28¢ 37,08: 31,96:
Network operation 14,54 15,84¢ 13,50¢
Development and technolos 10,77: 9,43: 8,47¢
Selling and marketin 10,25¢ 7,40¢ 5,98¢
General and administratiy 12,70( 11,95: 10,64¢
Amortization of intangible asse 1,102 1,65t 2,491
Total costs and operating expen 91,66( 83,38: 73,06t
Income from operatior 10,84¢ 11,177 7,35k
Interest and other income (expense), 14: (17¢€) (137)
Income before income tax 10,98¢ 11,00: 7,21¢
Income taxe: 2,96¢ 4,06¢ (8,907)
Net income 8,02« 6,937 16,12:
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: 72¢ 642 547
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, It 7,29t 6,29t 15,57«
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — (1,639 (5,020
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 729 $ 4,662 $ 10,55«
Net income per share attributable to common stddidns:
Basic $ 021 $ 01¢ $ 181
Diluted $ 02C $ 017 $ 0.4¢
Weighted average shares used in computing net iag@nshare attributable
common stockholder:
Basic 34,77¢ 24,01« 5,83¢
Diluted 37,317 27,48 31,89¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred $tk and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

Convertible Preferred Stock

(In thousands)

Series A Series /-2 Se

Total

ries B Series C Convertible | Common C

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Preferred Stock

Stock

Shares Amount

ommon Additional Note

Non-

Treasury Receivable Accumulated controlling

Stock  Paid-in

Capital

from

Stock Stockholder Deficit

Interest

Total
Stockholders

Equity
(Deficit)

Balance at
December :
2009

Issuance o
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock
options

Stock-based
compensati
expense

Accretion of
convertible
preferred
stock

Non-
controlling
interest
distributions

Net income

5,05¢$21,50¢ 1,10t $ 6,631 3,43t

$ 13,430 10,98:$76,38( $ 117,94¢ 5,83t §

51¢ 3,51C 5,02(

—$ —$ (4579 % (109 $

(4,15)

15,57«

(57,92) $

197

(547)
547

$ (62,40

N

861

(5,02(

(543
16,12

Balance at
December !
2010

Accretion of
convertible
preferred
stock

Issuance of
common
stock upon
conversion
of preferred
stock

Issuance o
common
stock upon
initial
public
offering

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise an
conversion
of preferred
stock
warrants

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
common
stock
warrants

Issuance o
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock
options

Offering cost:

Stock-based
compensati
expense

Retirement of
treasury
stock

Forgivenes:
of note
receivable
from
stockholdel

Excess tax
benefits
from stock-
based
compensatic

Non-
controlling
interest
distributions

Net income

5,05: 22,26! 1,10¢ 6,86¢ 3,43t

25¢ 82

(5,059 (22,52) (1,108 (6,95() (3,43

13,94¢ 10,98t 79,89( 122,96¢ 5,83t

17¢ 1,117 1,63t

) (14,129 (10,989 (81,00) (124,60)| 22,84¢

3,847

20

21

1,01¢

— (4579 (109) (46,50/)

(1,639

124,60(

48,29¢

272

1,02¢
(2,596

3,45(

(4,575  4,57¢

102

24¢

197

(642)
64z

(50,98!

(1,63

124,60

48,29

27:

1,02¢
(2,59¢

3,45(

10¢

24¢

(64:
6,93

Balance at
December :




2011
Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock
options
Stocl-basec
compensati
expense
Excess tax
benefits
from stock-
based
compensatic
Non-
controlling
interest
distributions
Net income

33,58¢

1,89¢

3% 170,72

1 2,57

— 2,73¢

— 2,19C

(41,849

7,29¢

197 129,07
— 2,57
= 2,73
— 2,19(

(103) (10¢

72¢ 8,02

Balance at
December :
2012

- —$ — —% — —$ —3

35,48!

$

4% 178,21¢ $

(34,54) $

82: § 144,49

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income including -controlling interests to net cash provided by ofiege

activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property and emépt
Amortization of intangible asse

Stocl-based compensation expel

Forgiveness on note receivable from stockhc
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Change in fair value of preferred stock warre
Change in deferred tax

(In thousands)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition

Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Deferred revenu

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities
Decrease in restricted ca
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from sales of marketable secur
Purchases of property and equipm
Payments for patents, trademarks and doi
Payments for business acquisition, net of cashieexd
Contractual payments related to business acquis

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon imtialic offering
Offering costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic
Payments of capital leas
Payments to nc-controlling interest:
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior

Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid for taxe

Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activities

Conversion of convertible preferred stock into comnstock
Retirement of treasury sto

Property and equipment and software maintenands goaccounts payable, accrued expenses and othe

liabilities
Accretion of convertible preferred sto

Exercise and conversion of preferred stock warraméscommon stoc

Acquisition of software, equipment and softwaremtemnance services under capital le:
Offering costs related to stock options issuedaw-employee consultar

Contractual payments related to business acquisitiaccrued expenses and other liabili
Offering costs in accounts payable, accrued exsease other liabilitie

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ 802 $ 6931 $ 16,12
15,95¢ 12,30 7,511
1,10: 1,65¢ 2,491
2,73¢ 3,45( 867
= 102 =
1,81¢ — —
= 132 68

98¢ 2,82¢ (10,407
(3,019 564 (2,006
(347) 527 (1,039
(290) (1,236 1,68¢
(2,506) (83 (382)
123 2,351 9,23¢
24,59 29,52¢ 24,16
438 53¢ 96€
(70,185 — (9,379
28,62 9,37: =
(18,000 (16,91) (11,259
(14¢€) (15€) =
(3,18%) — —
(14) @A) (272)
(62,46%) (7,335 (19,939
— 48,29; —

= (2,586) =
2,57¢ 1,02¢ 2
372 24€ =
(190 (420 (738)
(67¢) (547) (39¢)
2,071 46,01t (1,139
(35,79} 68,21 3,00
93,93 25,72 22,62
$ 58,13t § 9393 $ 2572
$ 11§ 1 8 30
737 1,351 1,03(

— 124,60: —

= 4,57¢ =
2,607 1,99¢ 3,31¢
= 1,63¢ 5,02(

— 272 —

= 402 73

= 14 47

— 10 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
1. The business

Boingo Wireless, Inc. and its subsidiafedlectively "we, "us”, "our" or "the Company") &sleading global provider of mobile Wi-Fi Interrsetiutions. Our
solutions enable individuals to access our extengiobal Wi-Fi network with devices such as smaotps, laptops and tablet computers. Boingo Wirglasswas
incorporated in April 16, 2001 in the State of Dredae. We have direct customer sponsorships wittswslBo have purchased our mobile Internet servaredwe
provide solutions to our partners which includedeim operators, cable companies, technology compaemterprise software and services companies, and
communications companies to allow their millionsusérs to connect to the mobile Internet throughguis in our network.

Initial public offering

On May 3, 2011, our registration statemegtstering 3,846,800 shares of common stock offbyedls and 1,923,200 shares offered by certaimgell
stockholders was declared effective by the UnitedeS Securities and Exchange Commission, anchéires began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market oy Ma
2011 under the symbol "WIFL." The proceeds fromghle of these shares are used primarily for wgrkampital and other general corporate purposes. résult of th
initial public offering ("IPO"), we raised a totaf approximately $45,701 in net proceeds after dédg underwriting discounts and commissions ofragimately
$3,635 and offering expenses of approximately $,59connection with the IPO, all of the shareswf convertible preferred stock were converted 22,845,764
shares of common stock and all of the warrantsitohase preferred stock were exercised and conhviertie 20,172 shares of common stock through natesh
settlement.

Reverse stock split

On April 7, 2011, our board of directorpepved a 5 for 1 reverse stock split of our outstag common stock which was effected on May 3, 2@tactional
shares were settled in cash totaling approxim&telfor common and preferred stockholders. No foaeti shares were settled for option holders, aeg were
rounded down as a result of the reverse stock §lares of common stock underlying outstandingkstptions and warrants and shares of our prefestezk and
warrants were proportionately reduced and the atisfgeexercise prices were proportionately incrdaseaccordance with the terms of the agreementsrgang such
securities. Shares of common stock reserved foams=e upon the conversion of our convertible prefestock were proportionately reduced and thectse
conversion prices were proportionately increasdbreferences to shares in the accompanying cafesteld financial statements and the notes theratlyding but no
limited to the number of shares and per share atapunless otherwise noted, have been adjustedléxtthe reverse stock split retroactively. Poergly awarded
options and warrants to purchase shares of our @mamnd preferred stock have also been retroactadilysted to reflect the reverse stock split.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation and consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements ffieryears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 20&Meawn prepared in accordance with accountingiphasc
generally accepted in the United States of AmetiGaAAP").
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)

The accompanying consolidated financiakst@nts include our accounts and our majority ovwswdssidiaries. We consolidate our 70% ownershipafcourse
Communications Detroit, LLC and our 70% ownersHighicago Concourse Development Group, LLC in adance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("AS@}0,Consolidation. Other parties' interests in consolidated entdiesreported as non-controlling interests. The
results of operations for the acquisition of conipamccounted for under the purchase method hareibeluded in the accompanying consolidated statg¢sof
operations beginning on the closing date of theiiadipn. All intercompany balances and transactibave been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of accompanying consolidiéiteancial statements in conformity with GAAP régs us to make estimates and assumptions that #fiie
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andiibeosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdates of the accompanying consolidated findetatements, and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses dhengporting period. Actual results could diffieom those estimates. Assets and liabilities whighsubject to
significant judgment and the use of estimates oieline allowance for doubtful accounts, recoveitst®f goodwill and long-lived assets, valuatiotoalances with
respect to deferred tax assets, useful lives astsacwith property and equipment, valuation anduldiges of and intangible assets, and the vatmatind assumptions
underlying stock-based compensation and otheryemstruments. On an ongoing basis, we evaluatestimates compared to historical experience awdls, which
form the basis for making judgments about the @agryalue of assets and liabilities. In additiorippto our IPO, we regularly engaged the assigtario/aluation
specialists in determining fair value measurement®nnection with stock-based compensation anerauity instruments.

Reclassifications

We reclassified $335 from other assetstanigible assets in the consolidated balance sisestDecember 31, 2011 to conform to the curreat presentation.
The reclassification had no impact on net incomstackholders' equity.

Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially dbjus to significant concentrations of credit skisist primarily of cash and cash equivalentstricted cash,
marketable securities and accounts receivable. Alrtain our cash and cash equivalents, restri@st and marketable securities with institutiondwigh credit
ratings. We extend credit based upon the evaluafidine customer's financial condition and gengredillateral is not required. We maintain an alloa&for doubtful
accounts based upon expected collectability of autsoreceivable. We primarily estimate our allowafar doubtful accounts based on a specific rexaésignificant
outstanding accounts receivable. For the year eDéeember 31, 2012, two groups of affiliated essiticcounted for 31% of total revenue. For the gaded
December 31, 2011, one group of affiliated entiéiesounted for 18% of total revenue. At Decembei2B12, three groups of affiliated entities accedrfor 26%,
16% and 10% of the total accounts receivable, aiisdy. At December 31, 2011, one group of afféic entities and two customers accounted for 23% and 12%
of the total accounts receivable, respectively.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highlyidi investments that are readily convertible kiown amounts of cash with original maturitieshoee months or le:
when acquired. At December 31, 2012, cash equitsaatemsisted of money market funds and marketadergies with original maturities of three montitdess. At
December 31, 2011, cash equivalents consisted néynmarket funds.

Marketable securities

Our marketable securities consist of atégtdor-sale securities with original maturitiescerding three months. In accordance with FASB A3Q 3
Investmen—Debt and Equity Securitiesve have classified securities, which have readiierminable fair values and are highly liquidshsrt-term because such
securities are expected to be realized within a pear period. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, vik$44.,558 and $0, respectively, in short-term maiie
securities and no long-term marketable securities.

Marketable securities are reported at falue with the related unrealized gains and lossesrted as other comprehensive income (loss) naatiized or until a
determination is made that an other-than-tempatadjine in market value has occurred. No significarrealized gains and losses have been reportathdhe years
presented. Factors considered by us in assessiatherran other-than-temporary impairment has oedurclude the nature of the investment, whethedécline in
fair value is attributable to specific adverse dbads affecting the investment, the financial citiodh of the investee, the severity and the duratbthe impairment
and whether we have the ability to hold the investhto maturity. When it is determined that an othan-temporary impairment has occurred, the iteest is
written down to its market value at the end ofleeiod in which it is determined that an other-th@mporary decline has occurred. The cost of malitetsecurities
sold is based upon the specific identification rodthAny realized gains or losses on the sale afstments are reflected as a component of intenelsber income
(expense), net.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, @a0d 2010, we had no significant realized or uiizedlgains or losses from investments in marketsdéberrities
classified as available-for-sale.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash consists of letters ofitreith our landlords or municipalities for whicheshave operating agreements. Letters of credgw@pported by cash
deposits made by us and invested into bank cetificof deposit. At December 31, 2012 and 201hade$30 and $465 classified as short-term restricash,
respectively. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, wentwakstricted cash classified as long-term.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that ivdoe received from selling an asset, or paiddogfer a liability, in an orderly transaction beséwenarket participants at
the measurement date. When determining the failrevaleasurements for assets and liabilities reqoir@ermitted to be recorded at fair value, we mersthe
principal or most advantageous market in whichatld transact, and we consider assumptions thatehparticipants would use when pricing the asséability.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)

The accounting guidance for fair value roeasient also requires an entity to maximize theafisdservable inputs and minimize the use of uantable inputs
when measuring fair value. The standard establialies value hierarchy based on the level of irahefent, objective evidence surrounding the inpsisitio measure
fair value. A financial instrument's categorizatigithin the fair value hierarchy is based uponltweest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurement.
The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

. Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active marieds are accessible at the measurement date fatiddk unrestricted assets or liabilities.

. Level z—Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilitremarkets that are not active, quoted pricesifailar assets and liabilities in active markets
financial instruments for which significant inpaee observable, either directly or indirectly.

. Level =—Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlammarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or liabilitie

The carrying amount reflected in the accanying consolidated balance sheets for cash amderpsvalents, restricted cash, marketable seesriticcounts
receivable, prepaid expenses and other currertisasseounts payable, accrued expenses and athéities approximates fair value due to the shenn nature of
these financial instruments.

Business combinations

The results of businesses acquired in ambsis combination are included in the Company'saiatated financial statements from the date ofitguisition.
Purchase accounting results in assets and liakilitf an acquired business being recorded atdkginated fair values on the acquisition date. &xgess
consideration over the fair value of assets acduarel liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwiill

The Company performs valuations of asseisieed and liabilities assumed for an acquisiaod allocates the purchase price to its respeggvéangible and
intangible assets. Determining the fair value ske#sacquired and liabilities assumed requires genant to use significant judgment and estimatsding the
selection of valuation methodologies, estimatefsifre revenues and cash flows, discount ratesaledtion of comparable companies. The Companygesghe
assistance of valuation specialists in concludimdadr value measurements in connection with falues of assets and liabilities assumed in a bssicembination.

Transaction costs associated with busicesginations are expensed as incurred, and aradiedlin general and administrative expenses indhsolidated
statements of operations. Transaction costs wedddsihe year ended December 31, 2012. There meteansaction costs for the year ended Decemhe(31l.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at istiarost, less accumulated depreciation and apabidin. Additions and improvements are capitalizéde routine
repairs and maintenance are
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)

charged to expense when incurred. Depreciatioraarattization is computed using the straight-linghrod over the estimated useful lives of the assetsllows:

Computer equipmer 2 to 5 year:
Software 2 to 5 year:
Office equipmen 3to 5 year:
Leasehold improvemen The shorter of the estimated useful life or theawrimg term

of the agreements, generally ranging from 3 tod&rs

Leasehold improvements are principally cosga of network equipment located at various madamnd operated locations, primarily airports, urekelusive,
long-term, non-cancellable contracts to providesleiss communication network access.

Equipment and software under capital lease

We lease certain data communications egenpnother equipment and software under capitaelegreements. The assets and liabilities undéatkgase are
recorded at the lesser of the present value ofeagde future minimum lease payments, includingreggd bargain purchase options, or the fair valubebasset und:
lease. Assets under capital lease are depreciategl the straight-line method over the estimateduldives of the assets.

Software development costs

We capitalize costs associated with sofvesaveloped or obtained for internal use when te&mpinary project stage is completed and it ied@ined that the
software will provide significantly enhanced capiies and modifications. These capitalized cosésiacluded in property and equipment and includereal direct
cost of services procured in developing or obtajnimternal-use software and personnel and relatpdreses for employees who are directly associatéd and who
devote time to internal-use software projects. @dipation of these costs ceases once the prgeetistantially complete and the software is rdadits intended
purpose, and once the software is ready for ienitd use, the costs are amortized over the Ugefaf the software. Post-configuration trainingdamaintenance
costs are expensed as incurred.

Long-lived assets

Intangible assets consist of acquired vermmracts, technology, advertiser relationshipbtaade names. We record intangible assets atdaie and amortize
these finite-lived assets over the shorter of tirgractual life or the estimated useful life ortraight-line basis. We estimate the useful liveaajuired intangible
assets based on factors that include the planreedfieach acquired intangible asset, the expectttdrp of future cash flows to be derived from eactjuired
intangible asset and contractual periods spedifiebe related agreements. As such, we accoumgich of the venue contracts individually. We inelaanortization ¢
acquired intangibles in amortization of intangibbsets in the accompanying consolidated staterootserations.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)

We perform an impairment review of longelivassets held and used whenever events or chamgesimstances indicate that the carrying valag mot be
recoverable. Factors we consider important thaldcigger an impairment review include, but are imited to: significant under-performance relatito projected
future operating results, significant changes erttanner of our use of the acquired assets onauralh business and product strategies and sigmifimdustry or
economic trends. When we determine that the caywyatue of a long-lived asset may not be recoverbbked upon the existence of one or more of thdgmtors,
we determine the recoverability by comparing theyiiag amount of the asset to net future undiscedimiash flows that the asset is expected to generatther
indices of fair value. We would then recognize mpairment charge equal to the amount by which #ne/img amount exceeds the fair market value obi$set.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the mselprice over the fair value of net assets aadjireonnection with the acquisition of Concoursernunication
Group, LLC in June 2006 and the acquisition of @i@Wireless, Inc. ("Cloud 9") in August 2012.

We test goodwill for impairment in accordarwith guidance provided by FASB ASC 3§ttangibles—Goodwill and Oth€fASC 350"). Goodwill is tested for
impairment at least annually at the reporting leviel or whenever events or changes in circumstimekcate that goodwill might be impaired. Evemtshanges in
circumstances which could trigger an impairmentewninclude a significant adverse change in legetdrs or in the business climate, an adverseractiassessment
by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a Iddsey personnel, significant changes in the maoh@ur use of the acquired assets or the stratmgyur overall
business, significant negative industry or econdneinds, or significant underperformance relativexpected historical or projected future resuftsperations. We

perform our impairment test annually on Decembe¥ 31

In September 2011, the FASB issued revigedance to simplify how entities test goodwill forpairment. Under the revised guidance, entitegelthe option t
first assess qualitative factors to determine wéreitis more likely than not that the fair valueaoreporting unit is less than its carrying amoam# basis for
determining whether it is necessary to performttye step goodwill impairment test described in FASBC 350. If, after assessing qualitative factarsentity
determines it is not more likely than not that thie value of a reporting unit is less than itsrgarg amount, then performing the two-step impaintrtest is
unnecessary. If deemed necessary, asi@p-test is used to identify the potential impaintrand to measure the amount of goodwill impaityiéany. The first step i
to compare the fair value of the reporting unithwit carrying amount, including goodwill. If thairf value of the reporting unit exceeds its camy@émount, goodwill
is considered not impaired; otherwise, there imditation that goodwill maybe impaired and the amtoof the loss, if any, is measured by perfornstep two. Unde
step two, the impairment loss, if any, is measimedomparing the implied fair value of the repagtimit goodwill with the carrying amount of goodhil

Currently, we have one reporting unit, operating segment and one reportable segment. éérbiger 31, 2012 and 2011, all of the goodwill wiashaited to
our reporting unit. We tested our goodwill for inmp@ent and no impairment was identified as the¥alue of our reporting unit was substantially xtess of its
carrying amount. To date, we have not recordedgaagwill impairment charges.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)
Revenue recognition

We generate revenue from several sourodsdimg: (i) retail customers under subscriptioand for month-tononth network access that automatically renew
retail single-use access from sales of hourlyydailother single-use access plans, (ii) platfoenvise arrangements with wholesale customers toaige software

antenna system ("DAS") at our managed and opelatations, and (iv) display advertisements and sphips on our walled garden signpages. Software licens
by our wholesale platform services customers caylmmused during the term of the service arrangesnend has no utility to them upon terminatiomhef service
arrangement.

We recognize revenue when an arrangeméstsegervices have been rendered, fees are fixdeterminable, no significant obligations remagfated to the
earned fees and collection of the related recedvesleasonably assured.

Subscription fees from retail customersgaiel monthly in advance and revenue is deferrethi portions of monthly recurring subscriptioedecollected in
advance. We do not have a stated or publisheddgfalicy for our Wi-Fi service, although our custenservice representatives will provide a refunchaase-bycase
basis. These amounts are not significant and aceded as contra-revenue in the period the refanelsnade. Subscription fee revenue is recognizalyaover the
subscription period. Revenue generated from reiagle-use access is recognized when earned.

Services provided to wholesale partnersupthtform service arrangements generally corgeireral elements including: (i) a term licensede aur software to
access our Wi-Fi network, (ii) access fees for mekwisage, and (iii) professional services forwaft integration and customization and to mairtfaén\Wi+i service
The term license, monthly minimum network access fend professional services are billed on a mpbtsis based upon predetermined fixed rates. Gecerm
license for integration and customization are dgbd, the fees from the arrangement are recogrézably over the remaining term of the platformveessr
arrangement. The initial term of platform servioehse agreements is generally between two toyfees and the agreements generally contain rereawades.
Revenue for network access fees in excess of timthiyaminimum amounts is recognized when earnebel&ments within existing platform service arramgats are
generally delivered and earned concurrently througthe term of the respective service arrangement.

Revenue generated from access to our DAgonkes consists of build-out fees and recurringessdees under certain long-term contracts wittteh operators.
Build-out fees paid upfront are generally defermed recognized ratably over the term of the eséchatistomer relationship period, once the buildiabmplete.
Minimum monthly access fees for usage of the DASvagkts are non-cancellable and generally escalanamnnual basis. These minimum monthly accessafees
recognized ratably over the term of the estimatesdaner relationship period. The initial term of contracts with telecom operations and wholesattnprs
generally range from three to fifteen years andatireements generally contain renewal clauses.riRevieom network access fees in excess of the ryomtimimums
is recognized when earned.
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)
(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Comiued)

In instances where the minimum monthly reelnaccess fees escalate over the term of the sélelservice arrangement, an unbilled receivabiecisgnized
when performance is within our control and whenhaee reasonable assurance that the unbilled réseilalance will be collected.

We adopted the provisions of ASU 2009R8yenue Recognition (Topic 605)—Multiple-Deliveza®evenue ArrangemerftaSU 2009-13"), on a prospective
basis on January 1, 2011. For multiple-deliveralbtangements entered into prior to January 1, #fdtlare accounted for under ASC 605&6yenue Recognition—
Multiple- Deliverable Revenue Arrangementge defer recognition of revenue for the full agament and recognize all revenue ratably ovewtiwesale service
period for platform service arrangements and tha t&f the estimated customer relationship period¥AS arrangements, as we do not have evidencairofdlue for
the undelivered elements in the arrangement. Fdtiptaideliverable arrangements entered into oramally modified after January 1, 2011 that arecacted for
under ASC 605-25, we evaluate whether or not séparats of accounting exist and then allocateattieangement consideration to all units of accogntiased on the
relative selling price method using estimated sglprices as vendor specific objective evidencethind party evidence is not available. We recogrife revenue
associated with the separate units of accountiieg gpmpletion of such services or ratably oventhelesale service period for platform service ageaments and the
term of the estimated customer relationship pefidodAS arrangements.

Advertising and other revenue is recognizbén the services are performed.
Network access

Network access costs consist primarilyesenue share payments to venue owners where oagedwand operated hotspots are located, usage-fleaset our
roaming network partners for access to their netajatepreciation of equipment related to networikdbout projects in our managed and operated looatiand
bandwidth and other Internet connectivity expersesir managed and operated locations.

Advertising, marketing and promotion costs

Advertising production costs are expenseditst time the advertisement is run. No adviergigproduction costs were capitalized for the yegided
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. All other cdsésleertising, marketing and promotion are experasethcurred. Advertising expenses charged to tipas
totaled $2,374, $1,393 and $579 for the years eBaéegmber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Stock-based compensation
To date, our stock-based compensation trasisted of stock options granted to employeesandemployees.

We recognize stock-based compensation egp@raccordance with guidance provided by FASB A%8,Compensation—Stock Compensa(ikSC 718").
We measure employee stock-based compensationtagstnd date, based on the estimated fair valikeohward and recognize the cost on a straightolases, net of
estimated forfeitures, over the employee requegteice period. We
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Boingo Wireless, Inc.
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estimate the fair value of stock options using @BiScholes option pricing model. The model requin@ut of assumptions regarding expected termecrpl
volatility, dividend yield, and a riskee rate. The weighted average assumptions that weed to calculate the grant date fair valueuofemployee stock option gra
for the following periods are as follows:

December 31

2012 2011 2010
Expected term (year. 5.¢ 6.4 6.1
Expected volatility 48.9% 49.8% 67.6%
Risk-free rate 0% 24% 2.5%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expected term of employee stock optiepsesents the weighted-average period that ol siptions are expected to remain outstandingstimating the
expected term for options granted to employeesappdied the simplified method from the Security Exege Commission ("SEC") Staff Accounting BullgtiSAB")
Topic 14,Share-Based PaymefiSAB Topic 14"), where options are granted at4therey. Where options were not granted at-the-maheyexpected term of
employee stock options represents the weightedagegperiod that the stock options are expecteenain outstanding and is calculated based uporlatgtorical
exercise and post-vesting cancellations, adjustedxXpected future exercise behavior.

We determine the fair value of common stacHerlying the stock option awards by referendiital party sales of our common stock. Prior toiaitial public
offering, the fair value of common stock underlythg stock option awards was determined with tisestance of a third-party valuation specialist.

We determined the expected volatility agstiom using the frequency of daily historical psagf comparable public companies' common stoch feeriod equal
to the expected term of the options in accordaritteguidance in ASC 718 and SAB Topic 14. We wilhtinue to monitor peer companies and other relefeators,
including our volatility after there is enough loist, used to measure expected volatility for futsi@ck option grants.

The risk-free interest rate assumptioraseol upon observed interest rates on the UnitéesSjavernment securities appropriate for the drgeterm of our
employee stock options.

The dividend yield assumption is based anhistory and expectation of dividend payoutsviiich no cash dividends have been declared orgra@lir common
stock, and for which none are anticipated in thhedeeable future.

As stock-based compensation expense rexegjim our accompanying consolidated statemertperfations is based on awards ultimately expecteddt, the
amount has been reduced for estimated forfeit&®€. 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated atithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsegjperiods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.f€itures were estimated based on our historicatespce and future expectations.

Compensation expense for non-employee diaskd awards is recognized in accordance with ABCand FASB ASC 50%quity. Stock option awards issued
to non-employees are accounted for
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at fair value using the Black-Scholes option pigcinodel. Management believes that the fair valub®stock options is more reliably measured tharfdfr value of
the services received. We record compensation egpesmsed on the then-current fair value of thekstptions at each financial reporting date. Compataos recorded
during the service period is adjusted in subsegperbds for changes in the stock options' faiugalntil the earlier of the date at which the noiplyee's
performance is complete or a performance commitiisaiached, which is generally when the stock dwasts. There was $372 and $515 of stock-based
compensation expense recognized for non-emplope&-Siased awards for the years ended Decembe032,ghd 2011, respectively, and none for the yedea
December 31, 2010.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordanitte FASB ASC 740Accounting for Income Tax€ASC 740"), which requires the recognition of deferred tax esse
and liabilities for the future consequences of ¢évéimat have been recognized in our accompanyingatiolated financial statements or tax returns. easurement
the deferred items is based on enacted tax lavtkelevent the future consequences of differenetsden financial reporting bases and the tax bafsesr assets and
liabilities result in a deferred tax asset, ASC 7dquires an evaluation of the probability of beafe to realize the future benefits indicated bghsasset. A valuation
allowance related to a deferred tax asset is reconhen it is more likely than not that some parto the entire deferred tax asset will not beizedl As part of the
process of preparing our accompanying consoliditedcial statements, we are required to estimatéreome taxes in each of the jurisdictions inathive operate.
We also assess temporary differences resulting liffering treatment of items, such as deferre@gnewe, for tax and accounting differences. We reaordluation
allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets tarttwint of future tax benefit that is more likelahnot to be realized.

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold measurement methodology to recognize and meastincome tax position taken, or expected t@bker, in a ta
return. The evaluation of a tax position is base@ dwo-step approach. The first step requireséityeo evaluate whether the tax position wouldtmlikely than
not" be sustained upon examination by the apprigptéing authority. The second step requiresakeobsition be measured at the largest amounidieaefit that is
greater than 50% likely of being realized uponmudtie settlement. In addition, previously recognizedefits from tax positions that no longer meetribw criteria
would no longer be recognized. Changes in recagniir measurement are reflected in the period iiclwtine change occurs.

We have filed, or are in the process afidil tax returns that are subject to audit by gepective tax authorities. Although the ultimatécome would be
unknown, we believe that any adjustments that reaylt from tax return audits are not likely to haveaterial, adverse effect on our consolidatedltesf
operations, financial position or cash flows.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are comprisednifiority holdings in Concourse Communications Digtid C ("CCG Detroit") and Chicago Concourse Demhent
Group, LLC ("CCDG"). Under the terms of the LLC agments, we are required to distribute annualthecCCDG non-controlling
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interest holders 30% of allocated net profits leggsital expenditures of the preceding year. Foydes ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we msitidufions of
$678 and $547 respectively to non-controlling ies¢tholders.

Under the terms of the limited liabilityrapany agreement for CCG Detroit ("Detroit Operatiggeement") profits and losses are allocated éactintrolling and
non-controlling owners based on specified termthénDetroit Operating Agreement which reflect thkative risk and reward of each owner. The prafd bss
allocation in the Detroit Operating Agreement spiesithat the non-controlling owners' allocatedfipsaare limited to the fixed distribution amourisd losses are
limited to the non-controlling owners capital acabbalance with losses in excess of their capitebant being fully allocated to the controlling amwon unit holder.
There is no specified term in the Detroit Operatiggeement, but the term of the annual fixed distion obligation to the non-controlling owner ietsame as the
term of the venue agreement between CCG DetroiDeatbit Metropolitan Wayne County Airport—which haseven year initial term with options to exteaddn
additional four years. The Detroit Operating Agreainincludes a distribution of $121 for 2012, aB8 $or 2011 and 2010, respectively. We allocatéditsrand losse
in CCG Detroit based on the attribution in the D&tDperating Agreement. CCG Detroit has generkatsses which reduced the non-controlling ownersalp
account to zero in 2009 resulting in an allocatmthe controlling interest holder all operatingdes and deficits created by the annual fixedilligtons to the non-
controlling interest holder.

Convertible preferred stock

The convertible preferred stock containetigble redemption features and deemed liquidatieferences upon a change-in-control, which wensidered
outside of the control the Company. Accretion déited issuance costs and dividends were recordactlagrge against retained earnings, or in thenabsef retained
earnings by charges against additional paid-intabpntil fully depleted, then against the accurtededeficit. We accrete issuance costs and divisiémthe earliest
redemption date. For the year ended December 31, 262 accreted our convertible preferred stoatiuph to their conversion date into common stockMery 3,
2011 in connection with our initial public offeringt December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had no prefestack issued or outstanding.

Warrants exercisable into convertible preferred stak

We account for preferred stock warrantadulities when the underlying preferred stock tzons either puttable or mandatorily redeemableufes. We issued
warrants which were exercisable into the Seriesfertible preferred stock in connection with capi¢ase arrangements. We determined that therprdfstock
warrants contained puttable features as a restiieafedemption provisions and deemed liquidati@figsences upon a change-in-control. Accordindig,Warrants
were recorded as a non-current liability and wergied at their fair value at date of issuance wihreases or increases in fair value at eachtiegalate recorded as
other income or expense through to the final measant date upon the exercise of the warrants. Huiewnts were exercisable either through cash patyafiehe
exercise price or through net-share settlemereadption of the holder. Our preferred stock wasautstanding of 25,196 were exercised and coedemder the
net-share
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settlement provisions into 20,172 shares of ourrnomstock on May 3, 2011, in connection with outiaghipublic offering.
Net income per share attributable to common stockHders

Basic net income per share attributableotomon stockholders is calculated by dividing inecattributable to common stockholders by the weidlaiverage
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhegeriod. Diluted net income per share attriblgtéo common stockholders adjusts the basic wetaterage
number of shares of common stock outstanding fpthtential dilution that could occur if stock apts, common stock warrants, preferred stock wesramd the
convertible preferred stock were exercised or cadedento common stock. Our convertible preferrextisholders were entitled to receive dividends aede not
contractually obligated to share in our net incomith common stockholders. The common stockholdezsat entitled to receive any dividends.

Segment and geographical information

We operate as one reportable segmentyvasgrovider of mobile Wi-Fi solutions across omanaged and operated network and aggregated nefovariobile
devices such as laptops, smartphones and tableétssingle segment is consistent with the inteanghnization structure and the manner in which atmns are
reviewed and managed by our Chief Executive Offiter chief operating decision maker.

Revenue is predominantly generated ansigiificant long-lived tangible assets are helthia United States of America. We do not disclosessay geographic
area because to do so would be impracticable. dlf@ing is a summary of our revenue by primaryamwe source:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenue
Retail subscriptiol $ 32,71¢ $ 29,03 $ 23,56
Retail singl-use 13,42¢ 16,05¢ 17,46(
Wholesale 49,49t 43,70" 35,13«
Advertising and othe 6,86¢ 5,76¢ 4,26¢
Total revenue $ 102,50t $ 94,55¢ $ 80,42(

Recent accounting pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounstandards Update ("ASU") 2013-@ymprehensive Income—Reporting of Amounts Recébsshit of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inc(("ASU 2013-02"). This ASU requires an entity to yide information about the amounts reclassifiedafitccumulated
other comprehensive income ("AOCI") by componemiaddition, an entity is required to present, eithrethe face of the statement where net incorpesisented or i
the notes, significant amounts reclassified olAOfCI by the respective line items of net income @nly if the amount reclassified is required un@&AP to be
reclassified to net income in its entirety in tlaen® reporting period. For other amounts that ateaguired under GAAP to be reclassified in theitirety to net
income, an entity is required to cross-referencather disclosures required under
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GAAP that provide additional detail about those ants. ASU 2013-02 will be effective prospectivety feporting periods beginning after December 08,22 Early
adoption is permitted. The adoption of this staddamnot expected to have any impact on our firerstatements as we currently do not have any ataauiOCI.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU AT8,Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Testing Goodwill forpairment("ASU 2011-08"). This ASU is intended
to simplify how entities test goodwill for impairmie It permits an entity to first assess qualifi&ctors to determine whether it is "more likélgr not" that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carryamgount as a basis for determining whether it cegsary to perform the two-step goodwill impairntest described in
ASC 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defl as having a likelihood of more than 50%. ASW1208 will be effective for annual and interim gook
impairment tests performed for fiscal years begigrafter December 15, 2011. Early adoption is peohi including for annual and interim goodwill iipment tests
performed as of a date before September 15, 2Dad @ntity's financial statements for the mosert@nnual or interim period have not yet beereidsWe perform
our impairment tests as of December®3af each year. The adoption of this standard hashaterial impact on our financial position, reswaitoperations or cash
flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011d@mprehensive Income: Presentation of Comprehetsteene, which amends current comprehensive income
guidance. This ASU eliminates the option to presieatcomponents of other comprehensive income ("8I part of the statement of stockholders' equiistead, it
requires entities to report components of comprefrerincome in either (1) a continuous statemermbofiprehensive income or (2) two separate but corise
statements. Under the two-statement approachirtiestatement would include components of netrimeowhich is consistent with the income statememhét used
today, and the second statement would include caems of OCI. The ASU does not change the itentsiiat be reported in OCI. The Company adopted this
standard effective January 1, 2012. The adoptighisfstandard had no material impact on our firdmposition, results of operations or cash flowslee Company's
comprehensive income currently equals net income.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-@hendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureanerDisclosure Requirements in U.S.GAAP and IFRS,
that amends the wording used to describe manyeafeijuirements in GAAP for measuring fair value distlosing information about fair value measuretsenhe
amendments in this ASU achieve the objectives wéldping common fair value measurement and disctoseguirements in U.S. GAAP and International Raial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and improving theiderstandability. Some of the requirements clahify FASB's intent about the application of exisfiaig value
measurement requirements while other amendmentgyeteparticular principle or requirement for measpufair value or for disclosing information abdair value
measurements. The amendments in this ASU are ig#fqutospectively for interim and annual periodgibaing after December 15, 2011, with no early aidop
permitted. This standard was effective for us Jania2012. The adoption of this standard had nteria impact on our financial position, resultsopferations or
cash flows.

3. Acquisition

On August 6, 2012, we acquired the asfe®and 9 for $3,500 plus the assumption of certiibilities. Cloud 9 provides Wi-Fi sponsorshipddpcation-based
advertising at airports, hotels, bars
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and restaurants, and recreational areas in thedddsCanada. The acquisition has been accounteshdi@r the acquisition method of accounting in etaoce with th
FASB ASC 805Business CombinationsAs such, the assets acquired and liabilitiesrassare recorded at their acquisition-date fainesl Acquisition-related
transaction costs are not included as a compori@unsideration transferred, but are accounte@dg$oan expense in the period in which the costsatered. We
incurred $50 in transaction costs. The excesseatugjuisition consideration over the fair valuasgets acquired and liabilities assumed is alldaatgoodwill, whicl
is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill igibtttable primarily to expected synergies and obierefits, including the acquired workforce, froombining Cloud
9 with us. Cloud 9 was consolidated into our ressaftoperations starting August 6, 2012, the adtipisdate. Cloud 9 has been integrated into then@amny's product
offering; therefore, its not practical to discl@ssual and pro forma financial results for Clousirgéce the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the allomatof the total purchase price as of August 6, 2012

Current assel $ 89¢
Property, plant and equipme 65
Intangible and other ass¢ 1,75¢
Goodwill 1,23
Current liabilities (4549)

Net assets acquire $ 3,50(

The fair value of the acquired assets @tfillities at the time of the acquisition was estied at $3,185, net of cash acquired. As the aedjeintity is a private
company, the fair value was based on significamiiisi that are not observable in the market andrépuesents a Level 3 measurement as defined B 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu. Fair values were determined using recognizedessivaluation technigues.

The intangible assets are all definitediwetangibles and are recognized on a straightdasgs over their weighted average lives of appnexely 5 years.
4. Cash and cash equivalents and marketable secues
Cash and cash equivalents, and marketableites consisted of the following:

December 31

2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash $ 16,677 $ 12,85:
Money market accoun 39,00: 81,08:
Marketable securitie 2,46( —
Total cash and cash equivale $ 58,13¢ $ 93,93:

Short-term marketable securitie—available-for-sale:
Marketable securitie $ 4155¢ $ —
Total shor-term marketable securiti $ 41,55¢ $ —
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All contractual maturities of marketablegegties were less than one year at December 3R.2Zthese consist primarily of corporate securitibgch include
commercial paper and corporate debt instrumentsdimg notes issued by foreign or domestic corponatwhich pay in U.S. dollars and carry a ratihd@r better.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2010, interest income was $183, $37 and $3pectively, which is included in interest and oiheome
(expense), net in the accompanying consolidatedrstnts of operations.

5. Accounts receivables, net and other receivables
Accounts receivable, net of allowancesdimnbtful accounts and other receivables consist#itedollowing:

December 31

2012 2011
Trade receivables, net of allowant $ 10,977 $ 7,38
Unbilled platform service arrangements, curl $ — 3 68
Unbilled access fee $ — $ 1,98t
Unbilled platform service arrangemel 39¢€ 16€

Non-current other receivable $ 39€ $ 2,151

Unbilled access fees receivables are irdud non-current other assets and unbilled platfeervice arrangements are included in currennanecurrent other
assets in the accompanying consolidated balanegsstfeccess fees are recorded under kenigr contracts with our wholesale partners thatelezom operators unc
long-term contracts for access to our DAS at ounagad and operated locations. These fees escalate annual basis from which we receive fixed crtral
payments and recognize revenue ratably over the déthe contracts.
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5. Accounts receivables, net and other receivabléSontinued)

Included in accounts receivables, nettiergeriods indicated was the allowance for doulatfgbunts which consisted of the following:

Balance, December 31, 20
Additions charged to operatio
Deductions from reserves, r

Balance, December 31, 20
Additions charged to operatio
Deductions from reserves, r

Balance, December 31, 20
Additions charged to operatio
Deductions from reserves, r

Balance, December 31, 20

6. Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities tsted of the following:

Salaries and wag¢

Revenue shat

Accrued partner netwol

Accrued for constructic-in-progress
Deferred service usage crec
Deferred ren

Accrued taxe:

Other

Total accrued expenses and other liabili

Allowance
for
Doubtful

Accounts

$ 617
44

(554)

107
11£
(45

177

45
(43

$ 17¢

December 31

2012 2011
$ 331 $ 3,93
3,67¢ 3,91¢
1,13¢ 1,274
1,00¢ 68¢
— 634
791 22¢
— 68<
1,061 1,40¢
$ 10,977 $ 12,75¢
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7. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of thevohg:

December 31
2012 2011
Leasehold improvemen $ 72,11¢ $ 60,03(
Construction in progres 6,29¢ 7,05¢
Computer equipmer 7,49% 6,67
Software 7,51¢ 5,81¢
Office equipmen 411 40C
Total property and equipme 93,83" 79,98
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortizz (51,42¢) (40,264
Total property and equipment, r $ 4241 $ 39,717

Included in property and equipment at Deloein81, 2012 and 2011 was software and equipmepirad under capital leases totaling $402, respelgtiand
related accumulated depreciation and amortizatiéh2®d4 and $0, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expenselixated as follows on the accompanying consolidstatéments of operations:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Network acces $ 11,94¢ $ 8,861 $ 4,392
Network operation 2,84« 2,44¢ 1,747
Development and technolos 1,04¢ 87:% 1,024
General and administrati 117 117 34¢
Total depreciation and amortization of property
equipmen $ 15,95¢ $ 12,30: $ 7,511

8. Goodwill and intangible assets

The changes in the carrying amount of gatbéwd intangible assets for the year ended Deegr@h, 2012 are as follows:

Balance as o Balance as o
December 31, December 31,
2011 Additions Amortization 2012
Goodwill $ 2551 $ 1237 $ — % 26,74«
Intangible assets subject to amortiza 9,84¢ 1,851 (1,109 10,59«
Total $ 35,35¢ $ 3,08: $ (1,109 $ 37,33¢
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Intangible assets at December 31, 201 2istowisthe following:

Weighted
Average Historical Accumulated
Life Cost Amortization Net
Venue contract 11years $ 26,88t $ (17,78) $ 9,10%
Technology 5 years 1,11¢( (93 1,015
Advertiser relationship 5 years 70 (6) 64
Patents, trademarks and ot 5 years 83¢ (429 41C
Total $ 28,90 $ (18,31) $ 10,59

The changes in the carrying amount of gatbéwd intangible assets for the year ended Deegr8h, 2011 are as follows:

Balance as o Balance as o
December 31, December 31,
2010 Additions Amortization 2011
Goodwill $ 2551: $ = =05 25,51
Intangible assets subject to amortiza 11,25 25C (1,655 9,84¢
Total $ 36,76: $ 25C $ (1,65% $ 35,35¢

Intangible assets at December 31, 201 listowisthe following:

Weighted
Average Historical Accumulated
Life Cost Amortization Net
Venue contract 11 years $ 26,38 $ (16,879 $ 9,511
Patents, trademarks and ot| 6 years 391 (56) 33t

$ 26,77¢ $ (16,930 $ 9,84¢

Amortization expense for fiscal years 2@1®ugh 2017 and thereafter is as follows:

Amortization

Year Expense
2013 $ 1,22(
2014 1,17¢
2015 1,12
2016 1,09z
2017 97C
Thereaftel 5,01(

$ 10,59
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9. Fair value measurement

The following table sets forth our finar@asets that are measured at fair value on ariegurasis:

At December 31, 201: Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 39,000 $ 2,46( $ 41,46
Marketable securitie — 41,55¢ 41,55¢
Restricted cas 30 — 30
Total asset $ 39,03. $ 44,01¢ $ 83,04¢
At December 31, 201. Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 81,08 $ — $ 81,08:
Restricted cas 46E — 46E
Total asset $ 8154 $ — $ 81,54

Our marketable securities available-foesdllize Level 2 inputs and consist primarily afporate securities which include commercial papet corporate debt
instruments including notes issued by foreign andstic corporations which pay in U.S. dollars aadyca rating of A or better. We have evaluatedvémgous types
of securities in our investment portfolio to deterenan appropriate fair value hierarchy level bageoh trading activity and the observability of ketrinputs. Due to
variations in trading volumes and the lack of qdatearket prices in active markets, our fixed mésiare classified as Level 2 securities.

The fair value of our fixed maturity mar&ble securities available-for-sale is derived tigiothe use of a third party pricing source or réceported trades for
identical or similar securities, making adjustmeht®ugh the reporting date based upon availabl&ehabservable data.

Prior to December 31, 2011, we had Levi@a@ncial liabilities, accounted for at fair valoa a recurring basis, which consisted of warramfsurchase shares of
our Series B convertible preferred stock. Thevalue of the warrants was determined under thekB&aholes model using various assumptions includiegekpecte
term of the warrants, volatility of our common stpdsk free interest rate, and the dividend ratedetermine the estimated fair value of our comistock included il
this model, we used an in depth valuation analyls@ir common stock prepared with the assistaneg dhdependent valuation firm. The increase irfélirevalue of
the warrants is included in interest and other éasg) income in the accompanying consolidatedrstateof operations for the years ended Decembe2@l11, and
2010. The following table provides reconciliatiostéveen the beginning and ending balances of pesfestock warrants in the tables above that usefisignt
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year endedebeer 31, 2011:

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 14cC
Increase in the fair value of the liabili 13z
Exercise and conversion of preferred stock warrgmdscommon stoc (272)

[

Balance at December 31, 2C
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10. Stockholders' equity
Convertible preferred stock

Prior to our IPO, we financed our operagidn part, through the issuance of convertiblégored stock. In July 2001, we issued 5,052,566eshaf Series A
convertible preferred stock. In February 2002, ssaied 1,104,969 shares of Series A-2 convertilelieped stock. In September and December 2003ssued
3,433,326 shares of Series B convertible prefesteck. From June through September 2006, we iskDi@83,188 shares of Series C convertible prefestack. The
conversion options, payments of liquidation prefieeeand redemption elections were considered agmrirevents that were not solely within our control

The convertible preferred stock containetigble redemption features and deemed liquidatieferences upon a change-in-control, which wensidered
outside of the control the Company. Accretion ddited issuance costs and dividends were recordactlagrge against retained earnings, or in thenabsef retained
earnings by charges against additional paid-intabpntil fully depleted, then against the accurtededeficit. We accrete issuance costs and divilémthe earliest
redemption date. For the year ended December 31, 26 accreted our convertible preferred stoaliuyh to their conversion date into common stockMery 3,
2011 in connection with our initial public offeringt December 31, 2012 and 2011, we have no pegfestock issued or outstanding.

Conversion

Each share of Series A, Series A-2, S&iaad Series C convertible preferred stock was idiately convertible, at the holder's option, inbt@ases of common
stock based on the formula of the issuance prigdeti by the conversion price. The conversion pries $3.00 for Series A and B convertible prefestedk,
$4.026072935 for Series A-2 convertible prefertedlsand $4.95835 for Series C convertible pretesteck. Each share of Series A and Series B cthheer
preferred stock was convertible into one shareoafroon stock. Series A-2 convertible preferred steak convertible into shares of common stock asioéd by
multiplying the number of shares of the convertiitieck by $4.30 and dividing the result by the @sion price of $4.026072935 per share, which apprates a 1
for 1.07 shares of common stock conversion rateeS€ convertible preferred stock was convertible shares of common stock as obtained by multiglyhe
number of shares of the convertible stock by $5:95 dividing the result by the conversion pric&4f95835 per share, which approximates a 1 foslaPes of
common stock conversion rate. Conversion of eaahestif Series A, Series A-2, Series B and Seriesr®ertible preferred stock was automatic uporctivapletion
of our IPO.

Dividends

The holders of the Series A, Series A-2ieSeB and Series C convertible preferred stocleveetitied to receive cumulative dividends, whethremot earned or
declared, out of funds legally available therefatethe rate of $0.15 per share per annum for énie$SA and Series B convertible preferred stoflQ#5 for the
Series A-2 convertible preferred stock and $0.2875%he Series C convertible preferred stock (dectuing dividends"). Accruing dividends accruedeach share of
convertible preferred stock from the date of isseamtil the earlier of (i) a liquidation, dissabrt or winding up of the company, including an asgion,
consolidation or merger, or the sale of all or saally all of the assets of the company (a 'lijtion event") and (ii) the date of redemption. ®éerued dividends
in each of the years ended December 31, 2010 ahid #hich were accreted in
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10. Stockholders' equity (Continued)
the respective carrying values of the convertibtfgrred stock before they were converted into comstock.
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10. Stockholders' equity (Continued)

Reserve for unissued shares

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we are aizihato issue up to 100,000,000 shares of comnmmk sWe are required to reserve and keep avaitaidief our
authorized but unissued shares of common stockmsurtiver of shares sufficient to effect the exerofsall outstanding common stock warrants, plusehgranted
and available for grant under our Amended and Ra$2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2001 Plan™) 201 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2011 Plan").

The amount of such shares of common stes&rved for these purposes is as follows:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Outstanding stock options under the 2001 | 2,34 4,34(
Outstanding stock options under the 2011 | 2,70C 2,261
Shares available for grant under the 2011 | 2,811 1,73¢
Total 7,85¢ 8,34(

Note receivable from stockholder

During 2002, we granted 290,000 sharegsificted common stock to an officer at the deefagdalue of $0.30 per share in exchange for gaskheeds of
approximately $9 and issuance of a partial reconose (the "note") of approximately $78 payableweh interest rate equal to the applicable fedatal On
January 11, 2011, we forgave the note and theipghand interest outstanding of $103 was expeasembmpensation. Interest accrued on the noteyasdncluded
in interest and other income (expense), net irmtltdmpanying consolidated statements of operations.

Treasury stock

On July 29, 2011, we approved the retiraméall 1,256,608 outstanding shares of treastogks The treasury stock, at cost, of $4,575 wassfierred to
additional paid-in capital in the accompanying aigsited statements of convertible preferred stuk stockholder's equity (deficit).

Common stock warrants

On June 28, 2011, our 26,322 common stakamts outstanding were exercised into 21,52%shafrcommon stock on a net exercise basis.

F-27




Table of Content

Boingo Wireless, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Ctinued)

(In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

11. Income taxes

The income taxes by jurisdiction consistref following for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
U.S. federal
Current $ 1651 $ 1971 $ 214
Deferred 1,18¢ 2,261 (20,360)
Total U.S. federe $ 284 $ 4,23: $ (10,14¢
U.S. state and loce
Current $ 327 $ 1,092 $ 1,19t
Deferred (202) (1,260) 50
Total U.S. state and loc $ 128 $ (168 $ 1,24%

Income taxes differ from the amounts coraguiy applying the U.S. federal income tax ratprax income before income taxes as a resulteofafowing for
the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
Federal statutory ra 34.% 34.% 34.(%
State and locz 1.1 (0.9) 16.7
Stock options (2.€) 1.€ 4.C
Non-controlling interest: 2.20 (2.0 (2.6
Valuation allowanct — — (1729
Other 3.3 3¢& (2.6
Income taxe: 27.% 37.% (123.9%

In 2010, we established a foreign subsjdiathe United Kingdom, which has generated losesslting in a $318 deferred tax asset with assponding
valuation allowance as of December 31, 2012.
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11. Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax reflects the tax efefttemporary differences that gave rise to sigaift portions of our deferred tax assets andliigds and consisted of
the following at December 31:

2012 2011
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 1917 $ 3,73t
Outside basis differences for U.S. partners 3,28¢ 3,52¢
Stock options 2,08¢ 1,391
Deferred revenu 87: 1,01«
Deferred compensatic 34C 407
State taxe 5 —
Other 341 45E
Valuation allowanct (1,669 (1,827)
Net deferred tax asse 7,18¢ 8,71(
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assel (1,539 (1,2072)
State taxe — (92€)
Property and equipme (189 (139
Net deferred tax liabilitie (1,72¢) (2,26))
Net deferred taxe $ 5,46( $ 6,44¢

In assessing the realizability of defett@dassets, we consider whether it is more likentnot that some portion or all of the deferredatssets will not be
realized. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, weféxderal net operating loss carryforwards of apprately $15,283 and $7,979, respectively, stat®petating los
carryforwards of approximately $29,955 and $27,968pectively, and foreign net operating loss darwards of $1,588 and $1,334, respectively. Thiefel net
operating loss carryforwards will begin to expine2025, and our foreign net operating loss carwéods have an indefinite life. Our state net opegabss
carryforwards are principally related to Califormiet operating losses and will begin to expired@4£ Our ability to utilize certain of our net opng loss
carryforwards may be limited in the event that angdie in ownership, as defined in the Internal Regebode, occurs in the future.

During the year ended December 31, 2010:eserded a $12,280 release to the valuation alowan our U.S. federal net deferred tax assetsadcteanges in
our expectations regarding our ability to realizese deferred tax assets. This resulted from andieiztion that it was more likely than not that theS. federal net
deferred tax assets would be realized. During ## gnded December 31, 2011, we recorded a $1eB&&e to the valuation allowance on our stateleferred tax
assets, due to changes in our expectations regasdinability to realize these deferred tax asSgis resulted from a determination that it was erldeely than not
that the certain state net deferred tax assetsddmutealized. The remaining valuation allowandémarily relates to the deferred tax assets foestat operating loss
that the Company believes is not more likely thahta be realized before expiration. In reachirgditermination of the valuation allowance, we heweduated all
significant available positive and negative evidemcluding, but not limited to, our three year
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11. Income taxes (Continued)

cumulative results, trends in our business, expeftiteire results and the character, amount andatqm periods of our net deferred tax assets.urfuerlying
assumptions we used in forecasting future incomeired significant judgment and took into accoumt @cent performance.

The following table sets forth the changethe valuation allowance, for all periods present

Valuation

Allowance
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 14,98¢
Additions charged to operatio 40C
Decrease credited to operatic (12,280
Balance, December 31, 20 3,10¢
Decrease credited to operatic (1,287)
Balance, December 31, 20 1,82
Additions charged to operatio 51
Decrease credited to operatic (204)
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1,66¢

During 2012 and 2011, we realized excesslifail tax benefits of approximately $2,190 and &24spectively, from stock option exercises. THemwefits
decreased income taxes payable and were recoragetiasrease to additional paieapital in the accompanying consolidated balatesets as of December 31, 2
and 2011. In accordance with the reporting requérgisiunder ASC 718, we did not include approxinys$él146 of excess windfall tax benefits resulfirgn stock
option exercises as components of our gross deféareassets and corresponding valuation allowdisodosures, as tax attributes related to thosefaihtax benefit:
should not be recognized until they result in auotidn of taxes payable. The tax effected amouigra$s unrealized net operating loss carryforwaxttuded under
ASC 718 was approximately $5,146 at December 312 20/hen realized, those excess windfall tax bénefe credited to additional paid-in capital.

We recognized interest and penalties relténcome tax matters in income taxes which vmetematerial during the years ended December 312,22011, and
2010.

We identify, evaluate and measure all uadetax positions taken or to be taken on taxrnstand record liabilities for the amount of thpssitions that may not
be sustained, or may only partially be sustainpdniexamination by the relevant taxing authoritithough we believe that our estimates and judgseere
reasonable, actual results may differ from theienages. Some or all of these judgments are suljaeview by the taxing authorities. As of Decem®&, 2012 and
2011, we had $392 in uncertain tax positions, &if0ghich is a reduction to deferred tax assets¢civis
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11. Income taxes (Continued)

presented net of uncertain tax positions, in ttt@apanying consolidated balance sheets. The fallgwéble sets for the changes in uncertain taxipasi

Uncertain
Tax
Positions
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 10€
Additions for current period tax positio 28¢€
Balance, December 31, 2011 and 2 $ 39z

Our annual income taxes and the deternainatf the resulting deferred tax assets and lt&@slinvolve a significant amount of judgment. Qudgments,
assumptions and estimates relative to current iec@xes take into account current tax laws, tméérpretation of current tax laws and possible @uies of current
and future audits conducted by foreign and doméstiauthorities. We operate within federal, statd international taxing jurisdictions and are sabjo audit in
these jurisdictions. These audits can involve cemdsues which may require an extended perionngf to resolve. We are subject to taxation in tiéed States ar
in various states. Our tax years 2009 and forweedsabject to examination by the IRS and our taty@007 and forward are subject to examinatiombterial state
jurisdictions. However, due to prior year loss gawers, the IRS and state tax authorities may examany tax years for which the carryovers are tsedfset future
taxable income.

We accrue interest and penalties relateshtecognized tax benefits as a component of indames. As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010@yuedanterest ¢
penalties was not significant.

12. Commitments and contingencies
Capital and operating leases

We lease space in managed and operatetibloggprimarily airports, under exclusive longaemon-cancellable contracts to provide Wi-Fi canivity and
cellular phone access to our DAS network. Minimunt expense is recorded on a straight-line basistheeterm of the lease. Rent expense from ouetefs the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 v@as681 $15,511 and $12,499, respectively.

We lease equipment, primarily data commation equipment and database software under noretiable capital leases that expired in Octoberl20he leases
were collateralized by the equipment under theelebderest expense associated with the capitagtefor the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012rtdwas $1:
$8 and $30, respectively. We also lease officeespacler non-cancellable operating leases. Rennegger our leases of office facilities for the geeanded
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1,209, $a/32%1,325, respectively. Included in rent expdasthe years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was
sublease income of $52 and $32, respectively.
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12. Commitments and contingencies (Continued)

Future minimum lease obligations under naneellable operating and capital leases at DeceBih@012 are as follows:

Operating
Leases and
Capital Airport
Years ended December 3: Leases Guarantees
2013 $ 42 3 7,40¢
2014 42 6,06¢
2015 42 4,98
2016 52 4,86(
2017 — 4,721
Thereaftel — 21,60:
Minimum lease paymen $ 17¢ $ 49,65
Current portior $ 42
Non-current portior $ 13€

Litigation

From time to time, we may be subject tonataarising out of the operations in the normalreewf business. We are not a party to any suddr tittyation that w:
believe would have a material adverse effect orbagimess, financial position, results of operationcash flows.

Indemnification

Indemnification provisions in our third-paservice provider agreements provide that we iwilemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the ind&ethparties on
a case-by-case basis for losses suffered or irccbyréhe indemnified parties in connection with atgim by any third party as a result of our wedysadvertising,
marketing, payment processing, collection or custoservice activities. The maximum potential amafrfuture payments we could be required to maldeuthese
indemnification provisions is undeterminable. W&édaever paid a claim, nor have we been sued inestion with these indemnification provisions. Aéd@mber 3:
2012 and 2011, we have not accrued a liabilitytliese guarantees, because the likelihood of imgueipayment obligation in connection with thesargatees is not
probable.

Employment contracts

We have entered into employment contradis two of our officers. These contracts generpligvide for severance benefits, including salamticmation, if
employment is terminated by us for substantial eaursy the officer for convenience. In additianprder to assure that they would continue to g@wndependent
leadership consistent with our best interestseénetent of an actual or threatened change in dottiecontract also generally provides for cerfaiotections in the
event of such a change in control. These protegiioriude the payment of certain severance bepefitkiding salary continuation, upon the termioatof
employment following a change in control.
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13. Stock incentive plans

In March 2011, our board of directors appthe 2011 Plan under which 5,511,288 sharesmfram stock are reserved for issuance. The 2011grtarides
for the grant of incentive and nonstatutory stoplians, stock appreciation rights, restricted shafeour common stock, stock units, and performarash awards. As
of January 1 of each year, the number of sharesrafmon stock reserved for issuance under the 2@hldRall automatically be increased by a numbeakip the
lesser of (a) 4.5% of the total number of sharesaimon stock then outstanding, (b) 3,000,000 shafreommon stock or (c) as determined by our boédirectors.
As of December 31, 2012, options to purchase 34@10shares of common stock have been granted thel@011 Plan.

No further awards will be made under o@2@Ilan, which terminated pursuant to its termdiddp outstanding under the 2001 Plan will contitnibe governed
by their existing terms. As of December 31, 20¥8iams to purchase 2,344,742 shares of common steok outstanding under the 2001 Plan.

We recognized stock-based compensationnsepas follows:

Years ended

December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Network operation $ 352 $ 46 $ 131
Development and technolos 352 577 11¢
Selling and marketin 571 65C 171
General and administrati\ 1,46( 1,732 45C
Total stockbased compensation expel $ 2,73t $ 3,42 $ 867
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13. Stock incentive plans (Continued)

A summary of the stock option activity untlee 2001 and 2011 Plans are as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Number Weighted Remaining
of Average Contract Aggregate
Options Exercise Life Intrinsic
(000's) Price (years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5281 $ 1.2t 7.2 $ 8471
Granted 53 $ 2.8t
Exercisec 2 $ 0.9
Cancelled/forfeitec 44 $ 1.4t
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 528t $ 1.2t 6.2 $ 38,27¢
Granted 2,381 $ 13.0¢
Exercisec (2,01 $ 1.01
Cancelled/forfeitec (53) $ 6.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6,601 $ 5.5 7.C $ 30,99¢
Grantec 1,391 $ 8.2¢
Exercisec (1,899 $ 1.3¢
Cancelled/forfeitec (1,049 $ 11.8¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 5,048 $ 6.5 6.4¢ $ 14,74
Vested, exercisable and expected to vest at Deaedih@012 4858 $ 6.37 6.32 $ 14,69(
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 2,77¢ $  3.4¢€ 452 $ 13,96/

The aggregate intrinsic value in the taltleve represents the difference between the estinfait value of our common stock at December 8122and the
option exercise price, multiplied by the numbemsthe-money options at December 31, 2012. Thénsitr value changes are based on the estimatedalaie of our
common stock. The total intrinsic value of stockiaps exercised for the years ended December 32,2011 and 2010 was $14,901, $9,754 and $3,cteply. At
December 31, 2012, the total remaining stock-basetbensation expense for unvested awards is $%86h is expected to be recognized over a weightedage
period of 3.2 years.

Stock options to purchase 1,899,000, 1@band 2,000 shares of our common stock were isgerduring the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2010
for cash proceeds of $2,573, $1,028 and $2, raspict

The weighted average grant date fair vafugptions granted for the years ended Decembe2@12, 2011 and 2010 was $8.10, $6.68 and $1.80ectvely.

We realized $372 and $246 of tax beneditstfe deductions from stock option exercises du2d12 and 2011, respectively. There was no taefiieralized for
the tax deductions from stock options exerciseihdu2010.
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14. Employee benefit plan

We have a defined contribution savings [ateaccordance with Section 401(k) of the IntefRalenue Code. This plan covers substantially afileyees who
meet the IRS requirements and allows participantiefer a portion of their annual compensation pneatax basis. Company contributions to the play e made at
the discretion of the board of directors. Emplayantributions of $347, $285 and $244 were madbdgtan by us in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

15. Net income per share attributable to common stikholders
The following table sets forth the compigtatof basic and diluted net income per sharetattaible to common stockholders:

Years ended December 3:
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Numerator:
Net income attributable to common stockholdersict $ 729 $ 4,66z $ 10,55/
Accretion of convertible preferred sto — — 5,02(
Net income attributable to Boingo Wireless, Indyted $ 729 $ 4,66z $ 15,57/
Denominator:
Weighted average common stock, b 34,77« 24,01« 5,83¢
Effect of dilutive convertible preferred sto — — 22,84¢
Effect of dilutive stock option 2,54:% 3,457 3,20¢
Effect of dilutive common stock warrar — 10 15
Weighted average common stock, dilu 37,317 27,48: 31,89¢
Net income per share attributable to common stddehns:
Basic $ 021 $ 01¢c $ 181
Diluted $ 020 $ 017 $ 04¢

The following outstanding securities wea imcluded in the computation of diluted net in@per share as the inclusion would have been dative:

Years ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Convertible preferred stoc —  7,69¢ —
Stock options 2,51¢ 2,172 —
Preferred stock warran — 26 26

Total 2,51¢ 9,897 26
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16. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)

Summarized unaudited quarterly financidghdae as follows:

2012
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
Revenue $ 24,187 $ 24,30: $ 26,017 $  28,00(
Income from operatior $ 2407 $ 223 $ 4,12¢ $ 2,074
Net income attributable to comm
stockholders $ 165 $ 1,461 $ 2777 $ 1,40(
Basic earnings per she $ 00t $ 002 % 0.0¢ $ 0.04
Diluted earnings per sha $ 00t $ 004 % 0.07 $ 0.04
2011
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
Revenue $ 21,02¢ $ 22,94: $ 24,68¢ $  25,89¢
Income from operatior $ 1,72¢ $ 2427 $ 2,981 $ 4,04(
Net (loss) income attributable to comm
stockholder $ (149 $ 1,29 $ 1,662 $ 1,85¢
Basic (loss) earnings per shi $ (0.0 % 0.0€ 3 0.0t $ 0.0€
Diluted (loss) earnings per she $ (009 $ 00t 3 0.0t $ 0.0t

Earnings per share are computed separfaredach quarter and the full year using the rehpeeveighted average shares. Therefore, the sureajuarterly
(loss) earnings per share amounts may not equalningal amounts reported.

During the quarter ended December 31, 202Company recorded certain out-of-period adjestsithat increased net income attributable to comm
stockholders by $243. The impact of these outefod adjustments is not considered materialyviddally and in the aggregate, to any of the curcerprior quarterly
or annual periods.

17. Subsequent events

In March 2013, we granted 404,800 optiomsémmon stock with an exercise price of $6.03gberre and issued 602,058 restricted stock unégeoutive and
non-executive personnel.

On February 22, 2013, we acquired all amiding stock of Endeka Group, Inc. ("Endeka"),dpproximately $5,300 plus contingent consideragind the
assumption of certain debt and liabilities. Endiskidne sole provider of commercial wireless broamha/olP and IPTV services at certain military ases well as
Wi-Fi services to certain federal law enforcementirgy facilities. Due to the timing of the closinge have not completed the purchase accounting iagsdevith the
acquisition as of the date of this report.
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Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filedpast of, or incorporated by reference into, thisvAal Report on Form 10-K:

(1)(2) Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statemewit8oingo Wireless, Inc., and Report of Indeperid@egistered Public
Accounting Firm are included in a separate sedaitthis Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on @&g2:

Page
Description Num?)er
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&812011 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and z F-4
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferredksand Stockholder's Equity (Deficit) for the Ye
Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and = F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-7

All financial statement schedules have teitted because the required information is nptiegble or not present in amounts sufficient tguiee submission of
the schedule, or because the information requgéttiuded in our consolidated financial statementhie notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits listed under Item 15(b) hereoffdesl with, or incorporated by reference into sthinnual Report on Form 10-K. Each
management contract or compensatory plan or amaeges identified separately in item 15(b) hereof.

F-37




Table of Content

(b)  Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of incorporated by reference into, this Annugb&eon Form 10-K:

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Description Form Date Number Herewith
3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat S-1  03/21/201 3.2
3.4 Amended and Restated Bylav S-1  03/21/201. 34
4.1 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated InvesghtRi S-1  04/13/201. 4.1
Agreement, dated April 12, 20C
4.2 Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement grifnen S-1  01/14/201. 4.2
Registrant and certain stockholders, dated Jun2@ag.
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement to be entered int S-1  03/21/201. 10.1
between the Registrant and each of its directadsofficers.
10.z Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Incentive | S-1  01/14/201. 10.z
10.2 Form of Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Plan S2ption S-1  01/14/201 10.:
Agreement
10.£ 2011 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreements S-1  03/21/201 10.4
thereunder
10.t Letter agreement between the Registrant and DaaghHi, S-1  04/13/201. 10.t
dated April 11, 2011
10.€ Letter agreement between the Registrant and Eddiasgr, S-1  04/13/201. 10.€
dated April 11, 2011
10.7 2010 Management Incentive Compensation F S-1  01/14/201. 10.7
10.¢ Office Lease Agreement, dated April 2007, betwedn C S-1  01/14/201. 10.€
10960 Wilshire Limited Partnership and Registr
10.¢ License Agreement for Wireless Communications Asces S-1  04/29/201. 10.¢
System, dated November 17, 2005, between City afa@b
and Chicago Concourse Development Group, L
10.9A Consent to Change in Ownership and Amendment of S-1 2/25/201: 10.9A
Agreement, dated June 22, 2006, between City afagioi ani
Chicago Concourse Development Group, L
10.1C Telecommunications Network Access Agreement, dated S-1  04/29/201. 10.1¢
August 26, 1999, between The Port Authority of Néovk
and New Jersey and New York Telecom Partners, |
10.10A Supplemental Agreement, dated March 28, 2001 betwhen  S-1  04/29/201.  10.10A

Port Authority of New York and New Jersey and Newarkf
Telecom Partners, LLC
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Description Form Date Number Herewith
10.11 Management Incentive Compensation P S-1  03/21/201. 10.11
10.1Z Letter agreement between the Registrant and Noelisel, S-1  04/13/201. 10.12
dated April 11, 2011
10.1: Letter agreement between the Registrant and Cotiffy G S-1  04/13/201. 10.1:
dated April 11, 2011
10.1¢ Letter agreement between the Registrant and Petegriier, S-1  04/13/201. 10.1¢
dated April 11, 2011
10.1¢ Transition Agreement between the Registrant antsNie 8-K  06/25/201. 10.1¢
Jonker, dated June 29, 20.
21.1 List of subsidiaries X
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent X

Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant t X
Section 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act.*

31.z Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuamt t X
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant t X
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act.*

32.z Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuamwt t X
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act.*
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCt XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
Documentt
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurtie X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
Documentt
* Furnished herewith
T In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation $KHE,information in this exhibits is furnished arat deemed filed or a part of a registration

statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectiar 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendede&ned not filed for purposes of

Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as ameratatiptherwise is not subject to liability undezgl sections and shall not be incorporated
by reference into any registration statement oeiottocument filed under the Securities Act of 1383amended, except as set forth by spe
reference in such filin
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Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction
Boingo Holding Participacdes, Ltdi Brazil
Chicago Concourse Development Group, L Delaware
Concourse Communications Baltimore, L Delaware
Concourse Communications Canada, | Delaware
Concourse Communications Detroit, LI Delaware
Concourse Communications Group, L Delaware
Concourse Communications lllinois, LL lllinois
Concourse Communications Minnesota, L Delaware
Concourse Communications Nashville, L lllinois
Concourse Communications Ottawa, L Illinois
Concourse Communications Puerto Rico, L Puerto Ricc
Concourse Communications SSP, L Delaware
Concourse Communications St. Louis, L Delaware
Concourse Communications UK, Lt England
Concourse Holding Co., LL! Delaware
InGate Holding, LLC Illinois
InGate Technologies, LL! Delaware
New York Telecom Partners, LL Delaware
Opti-Fi Networks, LLC Delaware

tego Communications, Inc Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{8333-174157 and No. 3381180) of Boingo Wireless, Inc.
our report dated March 18, 2013 relating to therfaia statements and the effectiveness of intesoalrol over financial reporting, which appearshis Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 18, 2013
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification

I, David Hagan, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Boingo Wireless, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omstéte a material fact necessary to make the stais
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with respehe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ oétmer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafigial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in Exghact
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cowtret financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registramd

have:

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtawus by others within those entities, partidylar
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed under our supervisiol
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyadilfinancial reporting and the preparation miancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdalisire controls and procedures and presentedsineghort our conclusions about the effectivendss o
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofriieoéthe period covered by this report based @h swaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regig¢santernal control over financial reporting tleaturred during the registrant's most recent fi
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethia case of an annual report) that has materitéftgt@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortexhal control over financial reporting, to tregistrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registsdrdard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which are reasonably liked
adversely affect the registrant's ability to recquabcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéanin the registrant's internal control o
financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 201 /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

Certification

I, Peter Hovenier, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Boingo Wireless, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omstéte a material fact necessary to make the stais
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthstatements were made, not misleading with respehe period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ oétmer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafigial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in Exghact
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cowtret financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registramd

have:

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtawus by others within those entities, partidylar
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed under our supervisiol
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyadilfinancial reporting and the preparation miancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdalisire controls and procedures and presentedsineghort our conclusions about the effectivendss o
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofriieoéthe period covered by this report based @h swaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regig¢santernal control over financial reporting tleaturred during the registrant's most recent fi
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethia case of an annual report) that has materitéftgt@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortexhal control over financial reporting, to tregistrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registsdrdard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which are reasonably liked
adversely affect the registrant's ability to recquabcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéanin the registrant's internal control o
financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 201 /s/ PETER HOVENIEF

Peter Hovenier
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Office
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Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1350, as createsidayion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 utdersigned officer of Boingo Wireless, Inc. (t@®mpany")
hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that

(i) the accompanying Annual Report omnrd.0-K of the Company for the period ended Decar3thie 2012 (the "Report") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dppicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 18&4amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results of operations & @ompany.

Date: March 18, 201 /s/ DAVID HAGAN

David Hagan
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being futmégl solely to accompany the Report pursuant to.88QJ § 1350, and is not being filed for purpodeSextion 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, anot i be incorporated by reference into anydilof the Company, whether made before or aftedéte hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation languageiéh filing. A signed original of this written s¢anent required by Section 906 has been providéuet€ompany
and will be retained by the Company and furnisteethé Securities and Exchange Commission or ifigban request.
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Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as create8idoyion 906 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Bairigyireless, Inc., Inc. (the "Compan
hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that

(i) the accompanying Annual Report omnrd.0-K of the Company for the period ended Decarthie 2012 (the "Report") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dppicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 13&4amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Refpfairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results of operations & @ompany.

Date: March 18, 201 /s/ PETER HOVENIEF

Peter Hovenier
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Office

The foregoing certification is being futmégl solely to accompany the Report pursuant to.88QJ § 1350, and is not being filed for purpodeSextion 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, anot i be incorporated by reference into anydilof the Company, whether made before or afted#te hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation languageiéh filing. A signed original of this written s¢anent required by Section 906 has been providéuet€ompany
and will be retained by the Company and furnisteethé Securities and Exchange Commission or ifwgban request.
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